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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting
Period").

REVIEW

The total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$31.4 million or 8.7% from approximately HK$362.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$330.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the substantial completion of a sizable project.

FORWARD

Looking ahead, the Group is confident about the prospect of the
facade and curtain wall works solution industry in Hong Kong due
to the expected growth of the construction industry in Hong Kong
driven by the Hong Kong Government’s initiatives to increase the
land supply for private housing as well as commercial buildings.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express
my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, shareholders and
business partners for their patronage. | would also like to express
our sincere appreciation to the Group’s management and staff for
their commitment, contribution and dedication throughout the
years.

By order of the Board
Chow Mo Lam
Chairman

21 June 2023

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENWED N

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall works
solutions in Hong Kong. Our solutions are customised to meet
the technical specifications and performance requirements of our
customers. We generally provide both design and build services
in our projects, ranging from developing designs, conducting
structural calculations, preparing shop drawings, sourcing and
procuring building materials, arranging for building material
logistics and installation works, project management to post-project
completion services. We engage subcontractors to perform the
installation work from time to time.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had ten projects in progress with
a total original contract sum of approximately HK$760.2 million, of
which approximately HK$237.2 million was recognised as revenue
during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, we were awarded four new projects,
with a total contract sum of approximately HK$286.7 million. Letter
of award of these four projects were signed and all these four
projects are now at the commencement stage.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

The demand for facade and curtain wall works is driven by
construction of residential and commercial buildings. The
development of residential buildings in Hong Kong has been a
major driver of facade and curtain wall works and the forecast
completions in 2023 and 2024 are 19,953 new units and 26,970
new units respectively.

Another driver for the facade and curtain wall works industry
is office buildings in Hong Kong. These buildings included both
installation of curtain wall systems as the envelop system above
the podium and the works for the building entrance, lobby and
the associate stores. According to The Hong Kong Property
Review 2023 compiled by the Rating and Valuation Department,
office completions in 2022 soared significantly to 351,300 m?2.
Completions are expected to drop to 267,200 m? in 2023 and
further to 105,700 m? in 2024. In 2023, new Grade A completions
will account for 250,700 m?, with Sham Shui Po and the Central
and Western district contributing 38% and 25% of the anticipated
supply respectively. Grade A completions in 2024 will account for
86,600 m? as Kwun Tong will contribute almost half of the forecast
completions.

Notwithstanding the negative impact from the economic slowdown
driven by the global macro-economic conditions, the Group remains
optimistic about its core business as the management believes that
there is a market for quality facade and curtain wall works in Hong
Kong. The Group will further strengthen its sales effort, closely
monitor the status of the projects and carefully control the cost of
services so as to expand its customer base and achieve sustainable
business growth and long-term benefits to its shareholders. We
are hoping to be more competitive and able to compete for more
sizeable and profitable projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED T

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$31.4 million or 8.7% from approximately HK$362.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$330.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the substantial completion of a sizable project.

Our revenue during the Reporting Period are generated from
the Group’s customers in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31
March 2023, the Group generated (i) revenue of approximately
HK$95.9 million from commercial properties projects, representing
approximately 29.0% of the Group’s revenue; and (ii) revenue
of approximately HK$234.8 million from residential properties
projects, representing approximately 71.0% of the Group’s
revenue.

Cost of Services

The Group's cost of services primarily consisted of building material
costs, subcontracting charges, staff costs and other direct costs.
The cost of services decreased to approximately HK$313.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 from approximately HK$345.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2022, representing a decrease
of approximately 9.2%. The decrease is in line with the decrease in
revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately HK$0.4
million from approximately HK$16.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2022 to approximately HK$16.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The Group’s gross profit margin increased
from approximately 4.6% for the year ended 31 March 2022
to approximately 5.1% for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing an increase of approximately 0.5 percentage points.
The increase was mainly attributable to effective cost control on
projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Income, Gains and Losses

The other income, gains and losses increased by approximately
HK$2.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$2.3 million. Such turnaround was mainly
attributable to the receipt of subsidies under the Employment
Support Scheme launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

Reversal of Impairment Losses

The reversal of impairment losses for the year ended 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$31,000 and the reversal of impairment
losses for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately
HK$0.5 million. Such change was mainly attributable to the lower
probability of default of our key customers in 2023 than in 2022.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$0.6 million from approximately HK$9.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$9.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in salaries and allowances of approximately HK$0.8 million
and increase in insurance expense of approximately HK$0.2 million
during the Reporting Period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$4.0 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$7.0 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023. The increase in finance costs was
mainly attributable to the increase in the average interest rate of
the bank borrowings.

Taxation

The income tax expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$0.2 million from approximately HK$0.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$0.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED T

Profit for the Year

Profit for the year increased from approximately HK$2.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$3.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the net results of: (i) the increase in the finance
cost of approximately HK$3.0 million; (ii) the increase in the other
income, gains and losses of approximately HK$2.4 million; (iii) the
decrease in the administrative expenses of approximately HK$0.6
million; (iv) the decrease in the reversal of impairment losses of
approximately HK$0.5 million; (v) the increase in gross profit of
approximately HK$0.4 million; and (vi) the decrease in the taxation
expenses of approximately HK$0.2 million.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$14.5 million, increased by approximately HK$2.0 million when
compared with approximately HK$12.5 million as at 31 March
2022. Such change was mainly attributable to the interim payments
from our customers.

The pledged deposits, including both the non-current and current
portions, were approximately HK$27.4 million as at 31 March 2022
and approximately HK$36.0 million as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$154.4 million repayable on demand or within
one year (2022: HK$110.7 million) and outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$15.0 million repayable after one year (2022:
HK$7.0 million). The Group’s borrowings were denominated in
HK$. The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements. For information about the interest rate,
please refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements of
this report.

The current ratio of the Group decreased from approximately 1.3
as at 31 March 2022 to approximately 1.2 as at 31 March 2023.
The gearing ratio, being the net debt (defined as bank and other
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits) divided by net debt plus total equity at the end of the
year, increased from approximately 53.0% to approximately 62.3%
as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange on 23 February 2018 (the “Listing Date”). There
has been no change in the capital structure of the Group since
then. The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company's issued share capital was
HK$8.0 million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
800,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this
report.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's bank deposits with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$36.0 million (2022: HK$27.4 million),
invoices issued to customers with total amount of approximately
HK$41.2 million (2022: HK$27.2 million) and the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$12.3 million
(2022: HK$9.9 million) were pledged to secure certain letters of
guarantee facility and banking facilities respectively, granted to the
Group. The pledged cash deposit of HK$4.4 million (2022: HK$4.4
million) was pledged to a third party to secure the performance
guarantee granted by the third party of HK$12.1 million (2022:
HK$12.1 million).

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”) and a
company controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow") and his
close family members (namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited) had
pledged their properties to secure banking facilities granted to
certain subsidiaries of the Group for nil consideration.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED T

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of surety bonds in favour
of customers of certain construction contracts. Details regarding
these guarantees are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements of this report. Save as disclosed herein, there is
no other contingent liabilities that the Group is aware of.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

There were no significant investments held, acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during the
Reporting Period. Saved as disclosed in this report, the Group did
not have other plans for significant investments, acquisitions and
disposal of subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The majority of the Group’s businesses is in Hong Kong and is
denominated in HK$, Renminbi and United States Dollars (“USD").
As no material monetary assets or liabilities were denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group is of the opinion that its exposure
to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Thus, the Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 140 (2022: 117) employees.
Total staff cost (including Directors’ emoluments) were
approximately HK$53.9 million (2022: HK$49.9 million). The
remuneration package offered to our employees generally included
basic salaries, bonuses and other cash allowances or subsidies. The
Group determines the salary of our employees mainly based on
each employee’s qualifications, relevant experience, position and
seniority. The Group conducts annual review on salary increase
and promotions based on the performance of each employee. The
Group provides on-the-job training to our employees and sponsors
certain employees to attend training courses.

12 Polyfair Holdings Limited B3 AR A 7

HREE

AEBUETEEANNEPRAREARE
EREBRBEER AEAZFEROFBIAN
A EHEEMBRRMEINA - RAREFHR
BEEN  NEBYTHABEMEMEAR

(==
=]

o

EARE -WBRLEE

AEBRRESHEAMEFEANERNLRE
Wk ERB AR LB AR - BRARE
Fri 58 & o - R2023F3A318 A& E
BEMBEAKRE  WELHEMNBARAE

g -

TH ¥ [E =% Bf J2 B

AEBABONEBERBETEIAETT
ARBEET(TETDE ARBEEXN
EREERABMINEHE  BAKRBERR
HEHNIINEERRBAR - Bt - A&EH
B EINEEREER - R BEEZ )
EFIIMNERBRILBNERTEEZRLEFEX
SN LB o

BERFTMEXR

MR2023F3A318 » ZEEEF140% (2022
F17R)EB - BEIXRAN(BIEESHE)
HEAR53.9F BB (20229F 1 49.9E B A
T0) c PR FIRENT AR —MEEE
REe  EAAUAREMIE S ZR S maL o K
SEXZREGREENERE  HHELH -
BUMFEETHET 2 AEERESEE
MERREENF R EAEEETFER
AEBEBREEREEREI  TEHIHE

B2 MEFIRE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 25
January 2018. Please refer to note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group mainly carries out its business in Hong Kong. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, the Group has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong during the year.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that the risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it has sufficiently
mitigated the risks present in our operations and financial position
as efficiently and effectively as possible.

- Changes in the cost of building materials and staff as well
as the subcontracting fees may result in cost overrun, which
could materially affect our results of operation and financial
performance;

- The Group may face difficulties in refinancing or increase in
cost of financing;

- Mismanagement or delay of our projects will materially affect
our reputation and also our financial performance as penalties
and/or additional costs may be incurred;

- Cash flow of our projects may fluctuate;

- We rely on subcontractors to complete our projects.
Underperformance of our subcontractors or unavailability
of subcontractors may adversely affect our operations,
profitability and reputation; and

- Our success significantly depends on the key management
and our ability to attract and retain additional facade and
curtain wall design team staff.

For other risks and uncertainties the Group facing, please refer
to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the prospectus dated 31
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBESE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Mo Lam, aged 69, is one of the controlling shareholders
(the "Controlling Shareholders”, which has the meaning as cited
under the GEM Listing Rules), an executive Director, the chairman
of the Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, respectively. Mr. Chow is one
of the founding members of the Group and joined the Group in
February 2006. He is primarily responsible for the overall business
strategy, annual budget proposals and major business decisions of
the Group with a focus on our finance. Mr. Chow was appointed
as a Director on 25 May 2017, appointed as the chairman of the
Board on 9 August 2017 and re-designated as an executive Director
on 25 January 2018. He is also a director of 3 subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Chow obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
Henley Management College (which is, after merging with another
school, currently known as the Henley Business School) in the
United Kingdom through distance learning in 1995 and a Master
of Laws in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) Law from The
Open University of Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong
Metropolitan University) in 2005. Mr. Chow is also a fellow member
of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants from the
United Kingdom. Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in
the construction industry, and has been a founder, an investor
and a manager of curtain wall companies in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He has been a director of CMD Aluminium Industry
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (BEEBEBCXINBRAF) (“CMD (52)"),
which is principally engaged in the manufacturing of curtain wall
in the PRC and wholesale of construction materials, glass and
aluminium products in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau, since
February 2003, and gained experience in the curtain wall industry
for over 10 years therein. In February 2006, Mr. Chow co-founded
Polyfair Construction & Engineering Limited (”Polyfair HK”) with
other founding members, aiming to capture emerging business
opportunities within the construction industry in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chow is a proprietor of Albert Chow C.P.A., a secretarial firm
incorporated in Hong Kong which, save and except for providing
company secretarial service to Polyfair HK since our establishment
up to 1 September 2017, does not have any business relationship
with the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, aged 65, is one of the Controlling
Shareholders, an executive Director, the chief executive officer of
the Group and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, respectively. Mr. Yu joined the Group as
an executive officer of Polyfair HK in April 2009 and was appointed
as a director of Polyfair HK in February 2010. Mr. Yu is primarily
responsible for the overall business strategy, annual budget
proposals, and major business decisions of the Group with a focus
on our operation and project management. Mr. Yu was appointed
as a Director on 25 May 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a director of 2 subsidiaries
of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in facade and curtain wall,
aluminium window and entrance door construction, and project
and enterprise management in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yu co-founded Condo Construction & Engineering
Company Limited (subsequently known as Condo Curtain Wall
Company Limited) and Condo Engineering (China) Limited in 1983
and 1986, which specialised in the design, supply and installation
of aluminium windows, curtain walls, glass walls and metal
claddings in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and worked therein
until December 2002. During his service in these two companies,
Mr. Yu participated in business operations and was responsible
for overseeing the design, supply, installation and quality control
matter of projects.

EERGREEEEEFE

RIUIZHRE 6557 BIERBREZ— 1T
BEE AEETHREHULRTHEZES LIE
HEBLHKE o R EAER2009F48 N A K
ESEETCEREENTHREE » LH2010F
QAEZAARBEREENEE -RAELEXTER
EASEMNBEEBRE FEEEERK
FEEKAE  EMREIRMNEERIEE
B REAEN2017FSASHER T AE
F W HA2018F1A2SHAEHITES -
MARARREHBARMES -

REEEBFTENINERERE  BERADMN
BERAREEEMCEEEHEHERA30F L
B o MIMAREE 2B - RELENI1983F K&
1986 F B E fth A T KR BIZ IRFAERETIER
RAR (BEARMIEERAE) REMT
B(RBE)BRAR EFESRE - BPFIRF
BlItEiRE SR WHEELBRSBHHRN
BEF HERLTHRER BEZEQRTHR
F2002F 128 - EEBNZMR A R HIRHE -
RAEESHEREE AEEETHEEMNK
B RRREEEHER -

Annual Report 2023 —Z - =443 15




Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBEFE

Mr. Wong Kam Man, aged 63, is an executive Director and a
project director of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group as a
senior project manager of Polyfair HK on 10 August 2012. Mr.
Wong is primarily responsible for project management in terms of
construction programme, supervision of our subcontractors’ work
and implementation of quality assurance and/or quality control
procedures in compliance with contract specifications. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a Director on 9 August 2017 and re-designated
as an executive Director on 25 January 2018.

Mr. Wong is a holder of Certificate in Civil Engineering of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in aluminium and metal works construction in Hong
Kong. Mr. Wong worked for various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong including Wah Tung Metal Engineering
Co., PMB Cyberwall Ltd. and Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering)
Limited as a site supervisor, project manager and senior project
manager. He participated in numerous construction projects and he
was responsible for, among others, project planning, budgeting and
management, design monitoring, installation supervision, quality
control and coordinating with main contractors. Prior to joining the
Group on 10 August 2012, Mr. Wong worked as a senior project
manager at Wah Tung Metal Engineering Co. from February 2010
to July 2012.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, aged 72, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He also serves as
the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
respectively. He has been working as a lecturer at the School of
Continuing and Professional Studies of The Chinese University of
Hong Kong since 1996. Dr. Lung also worked at the City University
of Macau from 2013 to 2018, where he last served as an assistant
professor.

Dr. Lung was employed as a company secretary (November 2002 to
October 2009) and financial controller (November 2002 to October
2008) of VST Holdings Limited, a main board listed company
(stock code: 856). He was also appointed as an independent
non-executive director of eprint Group Limited (stock code: 1884)
from November 2013 to August 2016. Dr. Lung has over 30 years
of professional and commercial experience in company secretary,
accounting and finance.

Dr. Lung is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute respectively. He is also an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Dr. Lung obtained a degree of
Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration from the Tarlac
State University in the Philippines through distance learning in
November 2012 and a degree of Master of Business Administration
from the University of Macau (formerly known as the University of
East Asia, Macau) in February 1988.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBEFE

Mr. Man Yun Yee, aged 70, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 12 February 2020. He also serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. He has over 40
years of experience in auditing, accounting and management. He
is currently an engagement partner of Dickson W. P. Mak & Co.,
a certified public accountants firm in Hong Kong. He first joined
Dickson W. P. Mak & Co. in May 2009 and served as a senior
auditor from May 2009 to April 2012 and from February 2015 to
April 2016, and he has become an engagement partner since May
2016.

Mr. Man obtained a master of professional accountancy from
Jinan University in the People’s Republic of China through distance
learning in January 2002. He was admitted as an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
May 2000 and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in March 2005.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung, aged 39, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. Mr. Wong also serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance
and Management from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2005. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
accounting and corporate finance.

Mr. Wong is an executive director, chairman and chief executive
officer of New Amante Group Limited (stock code: 8412). He was
the vice president of INCU Corporate Finance Limited from July
2016 to April 2021. He was a non-executive director of China
Information Technology Development Limited (stock code: 8178)
from July 2016 to June 2019 and a non-executive director of
Century Energy International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited) (stock code:
8132) from June 2011 to December 2013, and also worked at SMI
Management (HK) Limited, SMI Corporation Limited and Ernst &
Young.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny, aged 56, is the design director of
the Group. He is primarily responsible for general technical and
engineering work, preparing conceptual designs of tender and
ensuring that the use of building materials complies with the
contracts and the Buildings Department’s requirements. Mr. Wong
Chi Kan Johnny is a holder of Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering
of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 30 years of
experience in the construction and engineering industry in Hong
Kong. He joined the Group on 1 March 2006 as a senior design
manager.

Mr. Wong Chi Kan Johnny has worked in various construction and
engineering companies in Hong Kong since February 1989 as an
assistant technical manager and later as a senior design engineer.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Nuclear Construction and
Engineering Co., Ltd. from January 2003 to February 2006 where
he was responsible for engineering design, and his last position
held was senior design engineer. Before that, he was employed
by Condo Curtain Wall Co., Ltd. as an assistant technical manager
from February 1989 to January 2003.

Mr. Ning Gong, aged 35, is the senior project engineer of the
Group. He is primarily responsible for drafting structural designs
of facade and curtain wall, and preparing submission for the
Buildings Department’s approval. He obtained a degree of Bachelor
of Engineering in Harbour, Waterway and Coastal Engineering
from the Shanghai Maritime University in the PRC in 2010, and
further obtained a degree of Master of Science in Civil Engineering
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011. Mr. Ning
has approximately 10 years of experience in the construction and
engineering industry in Hong Kong. He joined the Group on 9
March 2017 as a project engineer.

Mr. Ning has worked in various construction and engineering
companies in Hong Kong since October 2011 as an assistant
engineer and as a project engineer. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in Chun Sing Engineering Co., Ltd. from August 2014 to
February 2017. His main duties during this employment were to,
among others, coordinate with clients and structural/geotechnical
consultants, conduct structural research, design foundation system,
develop construction methods and interpret and review design
work. His last position held was project engineer.
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Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance the
corporate value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, to the best knowledge of
the Board, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Company will enhance
its corporate governance practices appropriate to the operation and
growth of the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”).

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) no less than the Required
Standard for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer and a member of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

Mr. Man Yun Yee (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wong Chi Yung (Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” from pages 14 to 19 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

Board Meetings

For the year ended 31 March 2023, 4 board meetings were held,
of which all the meetings were regular Board meetings. Apart from
regular board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

Notice of at least 14 days are given to all Directors for all regular
Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion
in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying Board
papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out in full
to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretary of the respective meetings and all
Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information in a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
are held by Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen,
respectively. The chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The chief
executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and daily management and operations generally.

Independent non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On
Stephen and Mr. Wong Kam Man, entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years in 2018 and renewed
his service agreement for a term of three years from 23 February
2021 until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung and Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, each an
independent non-executive Directors, entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company with a term of three years in
2018 and renewed his letter of appointment for a term of three
years from 23 February 2021 until terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.
Another independent non-executive Director, Mr. Man Yun Yee,
also entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a
term of three years from 12 February 2020 and renewed his letter
of appointment for a term of three years from 12 February 2023
until terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

One-third of the Directors are subject to re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company ("AGM")
pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the
"Articles”). The term of offices of every Director is also subject to
retirement by rotation at the AGM at least once every three years
pursuant to the Articles.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company'’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, determines the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and ensures that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are primarily responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves its right to decide on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent
non-executive Directors and (if any) non-executive Directors
in various Board committees to safeguard objectivity and
independence.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.
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Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. The Board and each Director should have a separate
and independent access to and meetings with senior management
of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

The Directors have participated in the following training during the
year ended 31 March 2023:
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Directors Types of Training "o 2= 3 FIEE Rl
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chow Mo Lam A&B BB ML A AXZB
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen A&B RILZHAE AXB
Mr. Wong Kam Man A&B HIRNSEE AKB
Independent non-executive Directors BIUFHTES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah A&B EREEEL AXB
Mr. Man Yun Yee A&B SOE A AKB
Mr. Wong Chi Yung A&B FEBELEAE AXB
Note: Pt 5T
Types of Training IR B

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 January 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision D.3.3 of the CG
Code. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee was
revised on 12 November 2018.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors: Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, Mr. Man Yun Yee and Mr. Wong
Chi Yung. Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah was appointed to serve as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings for the year ended
31 March 2023, at which the Audit Committee reviewed the
quarterly, interim and annual financial statements and the
related results announcement, reports and documents and
attended various matters or issues raised by the Company’s
auditor, made recommendation to the Board the re-appointment
of the Company’s auditor, discussed and confirmed with the
management the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems and made
recommendation to the Board and reviewed the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code. The Audit Committee members met the external auditors
once a year without the presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted the recommendation model described in code provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of CG code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all Directors
and senior management of the Group; to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment; review performance-based remuneration; and
ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.
The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members is based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the profit performance of the Group and
the individual performance of the Directors and senior management
members.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
currently consists of five members, namely Mr. Man Yun Yee, Mr.
Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah and
Mr. Wong Chi Yung. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee
is Mr. Man Yun Yee.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, 1 meeting was held by the
Remuneration Committee, at which the Remuneration Committee
discussed and reviewed the existing policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management, assessed
the performance of the Directors and approved the remuneration
packages of senior management of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are
set out in note 13 in the notes to the audited consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee currently
consists of five members, namely Mr. Wong Chi Yung, Dr. Lung
Cheuk Wah, Mr. Man Yun Yee, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap
On Stephen. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr.
Wong Chi Yung.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industrial and regional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, 1 meeting was held by the
Nomination Committee, at which the Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’'s structure, size, composition and diversity,
and assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.
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Attendance Record for Board Meeting, EEEER ZEESERERREKX
Committees’ Meeting and General Meeting BHETHE

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, the HZE2023F3A3BHFE RESHESE
Board Committees meetings and the general meeting for the year eeE EFZEgERRBRERENR
ended 31 March 2023 is set out in the following table: BERIMT

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting
EH 37 B2
Name of Directors EEpE EZged ZE98E ZEEEE ZEE8EE BRAE
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman) — ERMELE (£E) N/A N/A (ot
4/4 TEH 1/1 AEA 1/1
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen RULRAE N/A N/A (ot
(Chief Executive Officer) (7B 4E%) 414 TER 1/1 AR 1/1
Mr. Wong Kam Man BBNEE N/A N/A N/A
4/4 TER TER TER il
Independent Non-executive BYEHITEES
Directors
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah EEERT 4/4 4/4 11 11 11
Mr. Man Yun Yee OB AE 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 11
Mr. Wong Chi Yung TEBERE 4/4 4/4 il il il
Total number of meeting(s) THREY 4 4 1 1 1

Note: Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen was appointed as MHeE : BEMEERRILEEDFIN202356 A

the member of the Nomination Committee on 21 June 2023 and 21 21H K2023F6 A21HELZ T AIREELE
June 2023, respectively. EHKE o
Corporate Governance Functions TEERBEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions
set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

> i
T
E@ )ﬂﬁu
= 8>
= W
o
il
)
%
He
il
]S
X
3
=
¢

Annual Report 2023 — &~ =443 29




Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess and manage different types of risks. As the first line
of defence, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction.
The management, as the second line of defence, defines rule sets
and models, provides technical support, develops new system
and oversees project management. It ensures that risks are within
acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective. As
the final line of defence, the independent consultant assists the
Audit Committee to review the first and second lines of defence.

The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation and
management of risks associated with its business activities through
ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering the likelihood
and impact of each identified risk. The Group has implemented
an effective control system which includes a defined management
structure with limits of authority, a sound management system
and periodic review of the Group's performance by the Audit
Committee and the Board.
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As the corporate and operation structure of the Group is not
complex and a separate internal audit department may divert
resources of the Group, the Group currently does not have an
internal audit department. However, the Group has engaged
an independent third-party internal control consultant to, on an
annual basis, review and provide recommendations on improving
its internal control system in order to manage our business risks
and to ensure our smooth operation. The review covered certain
operational procedures. No significant control failings or weakness
have been identified by the consultant during the review. The Board
and the Audit Committee would review the need for an internal
audit function on an annual basis.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. No significant
areas of concern that might affect shareholders were identified.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Group to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Group.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees of the Company in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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Procedures and internal controls include:

i) Only designated persons are authorised to communicate the
Company's corporate matters with investors, analysts, the
media or other members of the investment community;

i) Directors should report to the Chief Executive Officer any
potential or suspected inside information as soon as possible
for him to consult the Board for determining the nature of
developments, and if required, making appropriate disclosure;
and

iii)  Disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner
that can provide for equal, timely and effective access by the
public to the disclosed inside information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
82 to 86 of this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the
Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to HK$595,000 and HK$15,000 respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:
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B ESHMEBEMBERAFNMES SR A
595,0007% 7T % 15,0008 T °

B E2023F3A31HIEFE  ZERE X
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Fees Paid/Payable

e ENER
(HK$)
(BT

Audit Services % ER 75
Non-audit Services % EUR 75 595,000
— Profits Tax Service - PSR 15,000
610,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Liu Ying Shun (“Mr. Liu”) has been appointed as Company
Secretary of the Company since 11 November 2019.

Mr. Liu has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Liu has been a practicing member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2012. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration
from Lingnan University in December 2005. Mr. Liu was employed,
among others, by Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited
(an accounting firm which merged into BDO Limited on 1 May
2009) from January 2006 to December 2009 with his last position
as an senior associate; PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited as a senior
associate from January 2010 to April 2012 and from January 2014
to August 2016 with his last position as a manager; and Wong's
Kong King International (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 0532) as a finance manager from
April 2012 to April 2013. Mr. Liu is the founder and director of
Zhong Pu CPA Limited, which principally provide audit and advisory,
consultancy, taxation services for clients ranging from private
entities to listed companies in Hong Kong.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has access to the
advice and services of Mr. Liu at all time in accordance with code
provision C.6.4 of the CG Code. Mr. Liu has taken no less than 15
hours of professional training for the year ended 31 March 2023
pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the website of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting
and Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meeting

According to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the voting rights at general meeting, on a
one vote per share basis, in the share capital of the Company shall
at all times have the right to make a written requisition to convene
an extraordinary general meeting and/or add resolutions to the
agenda of a meeting.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director of the Company at a general
meeting, pursuant to article 85 of the Articles, the shareholder
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed
by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at
the Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s branch
share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of such
general meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and MEESREEARBESXFE

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries as mentioned above to the BREAIAKBR TS AHIRE Cat B -
following:

Address:  Anli Financial Communications Limited ik : ZEREEABRAF
Room 1901-02, 19/F, BB EITEEFFiE48-625
Shanghai Industrial Investment Building EBEEXRE
48-62 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong 19%1901-02F

Tel: (852) 2325 6661 FiE 0 (852) 2325 6661

Fax: (852) 3956 4350 {55 © (852) 3956 4350

Email: Polyfair@anli.com.hk 48 © Polyfair@anli.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the B B 7 oA & @B K A 7 M uh
online message form available on the Company’s website at www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk#g #t I 4% +
www.polyfaircurtainwall.com.hk and are reminded to lodge the BERBRREHER BERE—IHREIMEE
questions together with their contact information for the prompt HREBEZER  UHARRARBEEZERER
response from the Company if it deems appropriate. The Company FOJE - AARBETEREEZSEH -
will not normally deal with anonymous enquiries.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EEELTLBE

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the” Board Diversity BEELEMN2018F1AA BB EEET

Policy”) on 25 January 2018. The details are as follows: ZTlbBER((EEGZTILEE]) - A8

BT

1. Objective 1. BE
The Company recognises the importance of board diversity AArRAEZEZ T cEEN - H
which is beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s BEMRBEARRFZRBE -EEE% T
performance. The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the FBEEEGERE  NWERESEK
approach with the objective of achieving diversity on the BMZ Tt o
Board.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee of the Company reviews and
assesses the Board composition on behalf of the Board and
recommends the appointment of new Directors. In addition
to its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee will also
take into account the following:

2.1 In designing and reviewing the Board’'s composition,
the Nomination Committee will consider from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

2.2 All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Currently, all Board members are male. In order to achieve
gender diversity on the Board level, the Board will appoint one
female Board member no later than 31 December 2024.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of
the Board annually in the corporate governance report of
the Company and monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy
together with the measurable objectives set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the annual
corporate governance report of the Company.
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Review of the Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, which will include an assessment of
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy on an annual basis in accordance with code provision
B.1.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on 22 June 2018. The details are as

follows:

1. PURPOSE

This Director Nomination Policy aims to:

° set out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of Directors;

o ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company; and

J ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership
at Board level.

2. SCOPE

The Director Nomination Policy applies to the Directors and
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board
positions under the succession planning of the Company.

3. RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee.

Without prejudice to the authority and duties of the
Nomination Committee as set out in its terms of reference,
the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of
Directors rests with the entire Board.
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4. NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

4.1 CRITERIA

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, the following criteria should be considered:

Character and integrity.

o Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

o Requirement for the Board to have independent
Directors in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

o Any potential contributions the candidate can
bring to the Board in terms of qualifications,
skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity.

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company.

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to
the Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended
by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of Directors and
succession planning.
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4.2 NOMINATION PROCESS

(a) Appointment of New Director

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new Director and the
biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above
to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

(i) The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(iv) For any person that is nominated by a
shareholder for election as a Director at
the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.
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(b) Re-election of Director at General
Meeting

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring
Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should also review and determine whether
the retiring Director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should then make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general
meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect
or re-elect a candidate as Director at the general
meeting, the relevant information of the candidate
will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and/or
applicable laws and regulations.

MONITORING AND REPORTING

A summary of the Director Nomination Policy including the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
for selection and recommendation for directorship, should be
disclosed in the annual corporate governance report of the
Company.

REGULAR REVIEW

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
Director Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
MECHANISM

The Company has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism on 2 June 2022. The details are as follows:

Objective

Continuing improvement and development of the Board and its
committee processes and procedures through Board independence
evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback mechanism
for improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths,
and identifying the areas that need improvement or further
development.

The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company
need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance,
for instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.

This mechanism is designed to ensure a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises
independent judgment to better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

Mechanism

o Nomination Committee is established with clear terms
of reference to identify suitable candidates, including
independent non-executive Directors, for appointment as
Directors.

o Director Nomination Policy is in place with details of the
process and criteria of identifying, selecting, recommending,
cultivating and integrating new directorship.

° For independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)"):

o} Every INED is required to confirm in writing to
the Company his/her independence upon his/her
appointment as Director with reference to such criteria
as stipulated in the Director Nomination Policy as well as
the GEM Listing Rules;
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o} Each INED has to declare his/her past or present financial
or other interests in the Group’s business as soon
as practicable, or his/her connection with any of the
Company’s connected persons (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules), if any;

0 Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal
particulars that may affect his/her independence.

The Nomination Committee will assess annually the
independence of all INEDs and affirm if each of them still
satisfies the criteria of independence as set out in the
GEM Listing Rules and is free from any relationships and
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear
to affect, their independent judgement. Every Nomination
Committee member should abstain from assessing his/her
own independence.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it will set out in the
circular to shareholders the reasons it believes he/she should
be elected and the reasons it considers him/her to be
independent.

A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense.

Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the
Company’s senior management independently, if necessary.

An annual review on Board independence (the “Board
Independence Evaluation”) will be conducted, with attention
to ensuring that it remains independent in judgement, and
continue to present an objective and constructive challenge
to the assumptions and viewpoints presented by the
management.

The Board Independence Evaluation may take in the form
of a questionnaire to all Directors individually and may be
supplemented by individual interview with each Director,
if necessary, and/or in any other manners which the Board
considers fit and necessary.
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The Board Independence Evaluation report will be presented
to the Board which will collectively discuss the results and the
action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

The results of the Board Independence Evaluation or a
summary of its findings will be disclosed in the annual
corporate governance report of the Company for
accountability and transparency purposes.

The aforesaid Board Independence Evaluation will be regarded
as an ongoing exercise of the Company while the Company
may seek assistance from external consultant if an external
evaluation on the same subject is needed.

Corporate Governance Report

ERERRSE

BEEgBUMTERSE S
T EFEREEERRS
Ko ETEE B -

JJJH+
X
O
|
2‘_‘"

EFeRUMTENERIEFEHER
W ERERARRNFELEE RS
RRE - AEREAENERENED -

Eabus: 55 - AR LR ST E RN/
SEETOTE NEERR—FEE
TTOMNEBREAS - AR B Al B SROMED R R Y
#Bh -

For the year ended 31 March 2023 and as at the date of this report, HZE2023F3A31HIEFERAAREBE -
the Board Independence Evaluation had been conducted by way of EEeBUMTHRRAASBESESMNS
completing a questionnaire by all Directors. The results of the Board WMARET - EFEHIUENEOERTM
Independence Evaluation are summarized as follows: T

The Board as a whole possesses the skills and range
of experience needed to adequately fulfill its fiduciary
responsibilities, more reliably hold management to account,
and better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

Board meetings are conducted in a manner that allows open
communication, meaningful participation (including in-depth
discussion and resolutions of issues).

All INEDs bring independent judgement to bear on the Board’s
deliberations.

All INEDs have actively participated in all Board meetings and
committees’ meetings; and raised governance and ethical
issues to the Board.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the "Dividend Policy")
on 12 November 2018.

1. PURPOSE

The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to
the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

2. PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

2.1 The Board adopts the Dividend Policy that, in
recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its
working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its shareholder value.

2.2 The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

2.3 The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject
to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations
and the factors set out below.

2.4 The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration
and payment of dividends:

. financial results;

. cash flow situation;

. business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

o any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.
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2.5 Depending on the financial conditions of the Company 25 WBWIRRARRAEEBETBAMRRA
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out IR EMEHEREZ  EFE0E
above, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by HHRFERHEERERHEIRT
the Board for a financial year or period: FIRR 8
e interim dividend; o HHIRRE
e final dividend; s FERE:

e special dividend; and e HRRKRE R
e any distribution of net profits that the Board may e HEMNEZERR/SEHNFEN
deem appropriate. HDIK ©

2.6 Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to 26 HAFEREHAEBRRKREIE-
shareholders’ approval.

2.7 The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of 27 ARRAANEFERAEENE
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers ANERREMRE - BEREHR
appropriate. ERMIEMER -

2.8 Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall 2.8 EfR]AREEUA) IR B 1 VERE & B
revert to the Company in accordance with the Articles. RIBMRERART -

REVIEW OF THE DIVIDEND POLICY 3. REBROE

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from EFgHTHERESZRTRETECR -

time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. A shareholder’'s communication policy was adopted by
the Board at the Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming
to provide to the shareholders and potential investors with ready
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
of the Company. Extensive information about the Company’s
activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly reports and this
annual report, which are sent to shareholders of the Company.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries. The notice of the annual
general meeting is distributed to all shareholders at least 21
days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed at
general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which is
taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Results of the
poll are published on both the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website. All corporate communication with shareholders
will be posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’
information. The Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders' communication policy and
considered them to be effective.

A special resolution to amend the then existing amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company by way of adopting the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company was
passed by the shareholders of the Company during the annual
general meeting held on 29 June 2022. The amendments were to
bring the then existing amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company in line with the amendments
made to the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws of the
Cayman Islands, to allow and facilitate hybrid and electronic
meetings and to make certain house-keeping amendments. For
further information in relation to the amendments, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 22 June 2022 and
the circular of the Company dated 29 June 2022. Save for the
aforesaid, there was no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 March 2023.
An up-to-date version of the Articles is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Company is pleased to present this Environment,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) on the
environmental, social, and governance (the “ESG") aspects
with the initiative of outlining selected key performance
indicators (the “KPI(s)"), in accordance with the guidelines of
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

In this ESG Report, the Company strives to disclose its policies
and practices towards the ESG aspects of the Group in
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. All information and
data disclosed herein were based on formal documents and
internal statistics of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is principally
engaged in investment holding. The principal activities
of the Group include the provision of design and project
management services for facade and installation of curtain
wall systems in Hong Kong.

BOARD OVERSIGHT

A strong governance framework is key to ensuring the
ESG issues that the Group faces are incorporated into our
corporate agenda. To ensure our key management oversight
of ESG issues, sustainability governance is integrated into
corporate governance structures throughout the Group, from
Board level committees to management level group functions
and operation units.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE HERERERS

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE - THE BOARD AND
ESG COMMITTEE

The Group conducts a top-down management approach regarding
its ESG issues. The Board oversees and develops ESG strategy and
reporting, is dedicated in enhancing our ESG commitments and
data collection systems, and has approved this ESG report.

To develop a systematic management approach for ESG issues, the
Group has established an ESG committee chaired by an Executive
Director and composed of various department heads from finance,
human resources and operation functions to manage the Group's
ESG matters.

The ESG Committee periodically holds meetings for identifying,
assessing and monitoring the Group’s ESG risk. It also examines
and reviews the Group’s ESG performance against the Group’s ESG
related goals and targets.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND ESG
POLICIES

The Group incorporated corporate, environmental and social
responsibilities into its business strategies to promote healthy
entertainment and integration of society, contribute to
environmental sustainability, achieve healthy and harmonious
developments of its staff as well as continue to create
long-term value for its stakeholders. During the Reporting
Period, the Company has implemented relevant ESG policies,
which:

J are in compliance with the requirements of the relevant
laws and regulations on corporate ESG that have a
significant impact to the Group’s business;

o continue to facilitate social integration by actively
implementing the concept of “eliminating racial
discrimination and building a harmonious society”;

o encourage the employees to raise their awareness
towards "energy and resource savings”, support
and promote energy saving and emission reduction
measures;

J integrate green philosophy into the development of the
Group and ensure the Group is in compliance with the
environmental laws and regulations; and

o strive to establish healthy and harmonious relationships
with its employees, shareholders, suppliers and other
stakeholders.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - H#E8REBHSE

IV. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT Iv.

The Company consistently values the stakeholders that are
influenced by the Group’s operational activities including
clients, suppliers, employees, community groups and
government bodies, etc. We communicate irregularly through
various communication channels with each other in order
to build up a mutual understanding of each other’s vision
and expectation on environmental and social responsibility.
With reference to these, the Company develops a designated
environmental and social responsibility framework and sets
long-term objectives for the sustainable development of the

Company.

Major Stakeholders

Communications Channel
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Expectations

TERHEA BERE e
Government — Inspection in daily operating — Compliance with the law
BUF - Letter from the Government - Tax payment

Shareholders

=R

Customers

®F

Employees

3=

Suppliers or subcontractors

HEBFRSBH

Communities
HE

- RAEREEERTEE
- B

— General meetings

— Information disclosed on website and -

Stock Exchange
- BRERXE
- UL R R P B E K

— Meeting with customers

— Communication by email/telephone -

- BREF
- BB/ REER

— Meeting with management
— Training
- BRERE

- &l

— Business visits

— Communication by email/telephone -

- EEED
- B /EHEA

— Charitable activities
— Sponsorship

- EEEY

- BB

- ERRE
- B

— Corporate image
Economic performance
- BEER

- RBERH

— Environmental protection
Product/service quality

- RER#E

- Em/REER

— Occupational safety

— Remuneration benefits
- BER

- N8

— Payment on time
Operating conditions
- REAMER

- RERR

— Protecting the nature
— Social responsibility
- REBA

- #HEEE
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V1.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MATERIALITY AND REPORTING BOUNDARY

To ensure that this report addresses the issues that are
critical to the Group and significant to our stakeholders, we
have conducted a materiality assessment. This will help us to
identify improvements in our corporate social responsibility
work.

The ESG committee has analyzed those information,
compared with industry reference and evaluated them in
accordance with the principles of materiality, quantitative
and consistency. The Group applies a consistent methodology
in setting out relevant materiality level, quantitatively
measurement and reporting scope.

The scope of this ESG report included our major business
segment-provision of design and project management
services for facade and installation of curtain wall systems
covering our headquarters in Hong Kong and design house in
Shenzhen.

The Board has reviewed and approved the assessment of the
ESG committee and then disclosed the result in this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group aims to protect the environment by minimizing
environmental adverse impacts in daily operations, such as
energy-saving and recycling of office resources. The Group
will continue to seek for better environmental practices
and promote the right environmental attitudes within the
organisation. In general, the Group endeavours to:

o comply with relevant laws and regulations and target to
achieve beyond minimum requirements;

J avoid or minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes;

. make efficient use of resources;

J minimise negative impact of the Group’s activities to the
environment; and

o promote the stakeholders to go green and re-assess
their operations environmentally.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - H#E8REBHSE

A1 EMISSION

Emissions refer to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes.

As the Group is principally engaged in the provision of design
and project management services for facade and installation
of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong, there were neither
significant levels of pollutants discharged into water and land
nor significant generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes during the Reporting Period. The main contributor to
the Group’s carbon footprint is greenhouse gas emissions
caused indirectly by electricity consumption in the office.

We promote energy efficiency and emission reduction in all
operational processes. Nevertheless, the Group is committed
to protect the environment by seeking to reduce the impact
on the environment, especially regarding the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions and preservation of resources.

To achieve this, the Group has adopted various measures to
lower waste and consumption levels in our office and other
facilities:

- limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable indoor
temperature;

- switch off photocopiers, printers and computers after
office hours;

- unplug all equipment chargers and adapters when they
are not in use so as to reduce power consumption; and

- clean the air conditioning and ventilation system
regularly.

There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Group's businesses on this aspect.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As minimum environment impact results from the Group’'s
operation, KPIs A1.3 Hazardous waste produced, A1.4
Non-hazardous waste produced and A1.6 Waste management
are immaterial to the Group’s operation and have not been
disclosed in this ESG Report.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s greenhouse
gas emission from energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from electricity consumption were approximately
33.7 tonnes of carbon dioxide ("CO,").

The greenhouse gas emissions were approximately 33.7
tonnes of CO, in total and approximately 240 kg of CO, per
employee.

Emission

e
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A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission

A1.2 BERBHMK

Year ended 31 March 2023
BIZ2023F3A31HILLEE

Scope 2 - indirect emission - CO,
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33.7 tonnes
33.7M8
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE -HERERERS

A2 USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has implemented paperless concept in the internal
human resources management processes. It includes paperless
employee pay advice and company internal notice. In
addition, the use of recycled paper for printing and copying,
double-sided printing and copying have become the Group’s
internal practices. These practices greatly reduced paper
consumption and cost. The Group regularly collects and
evaluates printer usage data to monitor the effectiveness of
the paperless environment.

In order to reduce unnecessary usage and improve the
efficient use of resources, the Group has established the
“energy and resource savings” policy, under which:

o lights and electronic appliances in the workplace must
be turned off when they are not in use;

J limit air-conditioning hours and maintain suitable indoor
temperature;

o computers, photocopy machines, printers and other
office equipment must be turned off when the staff are
off duty or on leave;

o turn off lighting and air-conditioning when the guest
room is vacant; and

o use of recyclable resources, e.g. recycled paper.
The Group will continuously monitor and manage the use of

resources in order to reduce its operating costs as well as its
carbon footprints.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As there is no issue in sourcing water, KPl A2.4 has not been
disclosed in this ESG Report. Further, as only immaterial
water and packaging material were consumed in the Group's
operation, KPI A2.2 and KPI A2.5 are not applicable to the
Group and has not been disclosed in this ESG Report.

Use of resources

BRE HERELAHRS
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ENERGY CONSUMPTION - Electricity Year ended 31 March 2023
RFEEE-—EXD B ZE2023F3A31HLFE
Total Electricity consumption (Kwh) around 49,000 Kwh
BhHBFERE (TRE) #149,000F EL B
Total Electricity consumption per employee (Kwh) around 350 Kwh
BEEEENEFRE (TRE) #)350F FL B
ENERGY CONSUMPTION Year ended 31 March 2023
BE R OH ¥ HZE2023F3A31BLLFE

Total energy consumption — Electricity (MJ)
gEReEE—E N OKER)

Total energy consumption per employee (MJ)
BHEERRERE OLER)

PAPER CONSUMPTION

AEE

Total office paper consumption (KG)
MARRREEE (TR)

Total office paper consumption per employee (KG)

FrEER LA ARERE (TR)

around 178,000 MJ
#7178,000k EH
around 1,270 MJ
#1270k EE

Year ended 31 March 2023
B E2023F3A31BLFE
around 2,500 KG
#92,500F 7%

around 18 KG
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE -HERERERS

A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group promotes environmental awareness among
our employees and encourages them to work in an
environmentally responsible manner. To further promote
environmentally friendly office conditions, the following
methods are used:

1. all used printer cartridges are returned to the supplier
for recycling;

2. recycling bins are placed in the offices’ common areas to
separately collect waste paper for recycling;

3.  employees are encouraged to print double-sided
documents to reduce paper usage; and

4. make sure its business operation complies with the
environmental law in Hong Kong and its operating
locations.

A4 CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group takes reference to the recommendations of the
Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD")
in identifying and disclosing the potential impacts of
climate-related risks on the Group. We have assessed the
following risks:

Physical risks

o acute physical risk which arises from a particular event,
such as storm, flood or fire that may damage production
facilities and disrupt value chains; and

o chronic physical risk which arises from longer-term
changes in the climate, such as temperature changes,
and rising sea levels.
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VII.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Transition risks

o policy risk, for example, energy efficiency requirements;

o legal risk, for example, risk of litigation for failing to
avoid or minimize adverse impacts on the climate;

J technology risk, for example, a technology with a less
damaging impact on the climate replaces a technology
that is more damaging to the climate;

. market risk, for example, the choices of consumers shift
towards products and services that are less damaging to
the climate; and

. reputational risk, for example, the difficulty of attracting
and retaining customers and business partners if a
company has reputation for damaging the climate.

Based on the on-going assessment of the Group, it is believed
that the Group is subject to low physical risk and transition
risks.

SOCIAL
B1 EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total number of
140 employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group is
committed to providing a fair and respectful workplace for
our employees. The Group ensures our human resources
policies are in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations and with reference to the general practice and
benchmark of the industry. A comprehensive system of
remuneration, incentive and performance management
system has been established to attract and retain talents for
our long-term and stable growth. The system consists of basic
salary, legal and extra benefits (i.e. mandatory provident fund,
medical and other insurance, annual leave, sick leave and
various subsidies), and monetary rewards (i.e. discretionary
bonus) for the employees.
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RIE -HERERERS

The Group understands that the employees are its most
important asset. The Group has established a human resource
policy, under which:

J employees are reviewed annually on a performance basis
with reference to the market standards for consideration
of promotion and/or reward;

o in order to promote a harmonious and mutual respect
working environment, a staff manual is established to
govern the recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours and leaves. The staff manual also stipulates the
anti-discrimination policies and employees’ code of
conduct;

o clear work processes according to professional and
ethical labour practices have been clearly communicated
to all employees. Certain policies to govern employees’
affairs such as payroll, attendance and termination are
clearly set out in staff appointment letters in compliance
with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
law of Hong Kong); and

J diversity of workforce is promised, including in terms
of age, gender and nationality, as well as a culture of
equal opportunity. The management regularly reviews
the Group’s remuneration policy in relation to relevant
market standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE -HERERERS

As at 31 March 2023, all of the employees of the Group M2023%3H318 - AKREMEBEREY
are permanent staff and the distribution of workforce is REXET  BIHMHBANAT :

summarised as follows:

Age distribution Gender
Fiof ]l

18-30 31-40 _41 -50 . 51-60 _Over 60 . Male . Female
18-305% 31-40B% 41-505% 51-605% 60BLA L Eslis i
As at 31 March 2023, the employee turnover of the Group is 720239F3A31H - AEBEEERAE
summarised as follows: BEatan T -
Number Rate
HK Region EBHE A =
AGE DISTRIBUTION FiRoh
18-30 18-305% 11 100%
31-40 31-408% 16 76%
41-50 41-505% 31 86%
51-60 51-607% 20 80%
Over 60 60B% A 1 1%
GENDER 4 Bl
Male S 50 82%
Female peqc3 29 71%
Total et
Employee turnover BERAE 79 77%
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RIE -HERERERS

Number Rate
PRC Region ) 3t (& A =
AGE DISTRIBUTION FiRoh
18-30 18-30%% 0 0%
31-40 31-40%% 2 6%
41-50 41-507% 1 33%
51-60 51-605% 0 0%
Over 60 605%A 0 0%
GENDER B
Male B 6%
Female egi 14%
Total st
Employee turnover EEmAE 3 8%

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group always emphasises the importance of occupational
health and safety. Workplace health and safety policies have
been established in compliance with applicable local laws and
laws in the mainland China. Assessments on these policies
are conducted regularly to keep our standards updated and
practical. For any potential problems that may jeopardise
our employees’ health and safety, the Group implements
protective and improvement measures to minimise any
incidents. The measures taken are listed below:

° provide auxiliary tools e.g. trolley, pump-action water
dispenser, ladder, etc;

o set up safety warning signs, banners and slogans in the
work sites;

° organizing a series of training in relation to occupational
safety;

3 conduct emergency response drills regularly;

. install fire extinguishers, sprinklers, hose reels and
smoke detectors;
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e prohibit smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace; o T{EGMBEEE:

e arranging regular pest control; and e  RHEHES R

e supporting team members to achieve a healthy work-life e TREBKKEERBEMIMELE
balance. & e

Appropriate measures will be continuously taken by the Group REBBESTIEERE NEES

to improve the safety and health of the employees in the EIRGFNZT R EER -

workplace.

During the Reporting Period, there was one material accidents R EE - AREEREBZERIESD

in the course of our business operation which gave rise BAE—TREBRERIN B —EHARRER

to one claims and compensation paid to our employees. BEXf#HE -FAINHESHRRE

The compensation paid was covered by the insurance. The o REBWAAMBERBELEIER

Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant BERREREERCBXERESIETE

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the TFEMERNEEEERTEMNEBERE

Group relating to providing a safe working environment and FOEBRRIEMR -

protecting employees from occupational hazards.
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Year ended 31 March 2023

INDICATOR BE HZE2023F3A310LFE
Number of work-related fatalities BE=ZFEFHEITH No work-related fatalities
in each of the past three years' AE occurred in past three years

Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related B T{5#EK 6950 Tt X

BE=ZFIEFEIRTTHER
2021-2023: 0%

injury (per hundred workers)> (LAF1002 88 AE 20215 %F2023F : 0%
TE)?

Number of reportable work injury? ATHBIERE 1

Number of lost days due to work injury* AIGEkHIIEE & 337 day H

1 Hong Kong work-related fatalities defined with reference to 1 BEEHTHERANNTERDIERR

circumstances in which an employer is liable for compensation
under the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Chapter 282
of the Laws of Hong Kong.

2 Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related injury (per hundred 2
workers) = Number of fatalities as a result of work-related
injury/Number of workers* 100

3 Reportable injuries refer to work-related accidents to employees 3
resulting in incapacity for a period exceeding three days in
Hong Kong or PRC.

4 Lost days refer to the days that could not be worked as a 4

consequence of a worker being unable to perform their usual
work because an occupational accident or disease.
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING B3 EE K

Being a facade and curtain wall work solutions provider ER—MEBBREING KB T2
in Hong Kong, the Group recognises the importance of AARNHEER  ~AEERBEINZE
professionalism and competence of its staff. The main XEZRENBHEEE - AEEETEE
objective of training and development in the Group is to help IIRERAFENMAABEREN <8
develop key competencies which enable individuals to perform ITRABHEITERIHRENBE -

current or future jobs successfully.

The training and development programmes will be geared BIlkERFASEEERKATER:
towards the following objectives:

-  strengthening the job skills/lknowledge of employees; —  IREEM ITIEREEAHE

-~  improving operational efficiency and productivity; and/or - REEEREXEREEN KK

- developing the potential of employees for maximizing — MHEEBER HEBHEASEN
mutual benefit to individuals and the Group. BNARBEZR -

Types of training or development activities conducted EETHEINSEREZEER

- employee-initiated training/development activities may - EEERERMNEZIEREHITEE
include external programmes that are organized by MR E IR SR R B E P
external training institutes, or by the Group; and HNEBERIE - R

- employer-initiated programmes may take the form of - BEEXBRENAITEAEDES
offering sponsorship for employees to attend external SMINBREXEBRNERZE
programmes or organising such programmes in-house. AR A LT -
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During the Reporting Period, the Group made full use of
internal resources to organise various forms of training
covering management, customer service, financial, etc. to the
employees. In addition, front line operation unit employees
are required to attend 5 hours safety training per month in
order to improve the work safety environment.

RBEHHE AEBRIMNARNBLE
R REEBSHER TPIR® M1
FREMSZBE AT - bsh - BT
EIZE2RE  REBEUERS
RAZMSNEH R 2 IF -

Male Female
% of employees trained ZIRERSD 5% peg i3
Key management FEERE 67% N/A TiE
Back office ®a 3% 0%
Front line operation unit GIESE S va 100% 100%

Male Female
Average hours completed per employee BEEERAZINFEHRFH 54 egid

Key management TEEEE
Back office &a
Front line operation unit Al AR TS B AL

25 hours /B N/A TEFA
0.63 hours /N -
60 hours /N 60 hours /J\BF

B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group fully understands that the exploitation of child
and forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore
takes the responsibility against child and forced labour very
seriously. The Group prohibits any child and forced labour
in its operations. A system of comprehensive recruitment
processes is established requiring background checks to be
conducted on candidates and formalised reporting procedures
to address any exceptions found. The Group also performs
regular reviews and inspections to detect the existence of any
child or forced labour in the operations. In the meantime, the
Group also avoids engaging vendors of administrative supplies
and services and contractors that are known to employ child
or forced labour in their operations.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to preventing child or forced labour on
the Group during the Reporting Period. In addition, no
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in
the Reporting Period.
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B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group’s general business suppliers include providers of
fabricated products, aluminium and steel, glass, installation
work and design services for construction projects.

The Group believes that the quality of its products and
services, as well as its reputation, will be influenced by the
work with its suppliers. Therefore, the Group has established
procurement policy to maintain high level of ethical standards
for choosing the right supplier through careful selection
and continuous measurement. The Group conducts reviews
on key suppliers annually so as to provide an opportunity
to suppliers to enhance their services and products quality,
which improves both the suppliers and our procurement
management effectively.

In selecting new suppliers, the Group compares at least
three different companies, keeps environmentally preferable
products and services as an important indicator and
emphasises the legal compliance and integrity culture
of suppliers’ operations, beyond cost considerations.
On-site inspections and research are conducted before the
commencement of business with suppliers, and there are no
child labour or forced labour issues. The examination and
evaluation results will be used as the basis for continuation or
termination of cooperation in the future. The ESG committee
would monitor the status of environmentally preferrable
products and services and report to the Board.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group is engaged with 130
material suppliers and 20 sub-contractors. Our Executive
Director, Procurement department and Quantity Surveyor
team work together to monitor the performance and quality
of our suppliers and sub-contractors.

The number of suppliers/sub-contractors by geographical
region is as follows:

BRE HERELAHRS

B5 HEHEEIE

AEEN - REFHEAEEZERE
BEREMGER BRWM - FE KT
RRRARBORMER -

AEBRGEEERERBERALE
BeXEHEHERAENTE - FAit
AEECHERBRE  EBBEHE
RESEEAENHER A EX
FERRE - AEESFERIBHE
RN EARERARGREMRE
Z MBRARARNEHERLIRBE
2o

EFHERE  ARERILR=MH
TRKRAE] - FE K IRRE an MR F
REEERYERHERZLENLZRA
MR MREXE  FEERKAZE -
HEEERHAREFENRR  A5EE%
ETEWRRELAE  UWRTEFEE
TRl THE - BERFELERE
AERRFENRILEGIENEE IR
B oHeMEARAZBERERRREM

KRBHAREL AEETGRE -

H E2023F3A31H  REEZE 130
ZYREER K208 D B  iTE
2 CREDIMEINZMEREFA
B ERHEFLSBEANKRRERLE
%o

RiEEDOHER HDEEEE W
N

Supplier Sub-contractor

Region ih & fHtEEm PEE
Hong Kong BB 123 20
PRC s 7 _
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer
satisfaction in terms of our products and services. Strenuous
efforts are made to ensure compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations relating to product health and safety,
intellectual property right, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The
Group’s code of conduct requires its employees to comply
with applicable governmental and regulatory laws, rules,
codes and regulations.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, intellectual property
rights, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to services provided and methods of redress during the
Reporting Period. The Group has in-house rules governing
the work procedures for the projects in order to ensure
work quality. The Group considers that the quality of works
generally depends on the quality of building materials
supplied and installation works performed by sub-contractors
at construction sites, which in turn are generally controlled by
the Group’s quality control measures on suppliers, including:
(i) ensuring sufficient planning prior to executing the project
to ensure that quality control measures and procedures are
in place; (ii) maintaining a list of approved suppliers and
only engaging those on the list; and (iii) conducting sample
inspections on building materials supplied based on the
technical specifications of the relevant projects. Building
materials that are defective or do not meet the specifications
will be returned to the suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, our Group did not receive any
material complaint or demand for any kind of compensation
from the customers, or recalls for safety and health reasons in
relation to the products and services.
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Company has adopted the anti-corruption policy on 2
June 2022. Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly
prohibited. The Group’s anti-corruption policies set out
standards of conduct to which all employees are required to
adhere in order to promote the integrity of the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
ICAC seminars available to all Hong Kong staff on
anti-corruption have been conducted. In addition, unless
with prior approval from senior management, employees
should not give or accept any gifts, gratuities, favours or
benefits that are beyond common courtesies with accepted
business practices or any excessive entertainment. Breaches
are subject to disciplinary actions, including the termination of
employment contracts where necessary.

We aim to maintain the highest standards of openness,
uprightness and accountability and all our staff are expected
to observe the highest standards of ethical, personal and
professional conduct. We do not tolerate corruption, bribery,
extortion, money-laundering and other fraudulent activities in
connection with any of our business operations.

The Company has adopted the whistle-blowing policy on
2 June 2022 for reporting any improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control, suspected or actual fraud or other
matters. Whistleblower can drop an email directly to the
Audit Committee. If they prefer, they can choose to use an
anonymous email address to report the matters.

The chairman of the Audit Committee can call for a meeting
with the Board to investigate the reported matters.

The Board may also decide whether the Group needs to
appoint an external consultant (including professional parties,
ICAC or police, etc.) to deal with the reported matters.
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The Group is not aware of any potential or confirmed cases
regarding corruption practices brought against the Group or
its employees during the Reporting Period. No whistleblowing
disclosures were received during the Reporting Period. The
Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is constantly aware of the needs of the community
and is ready to try its best to contribute to the community by
participating in and sponsoring community activities.

In addition, the Group encourages and supports its staff to
participate in volunteer services during leisure time.
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The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Since 2006, the
Group has mainly engaged as a subcontractor that provides facade
and curtain wall works solutions in Hong Kong. Details of the
principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023
are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report. The Group’s revenue for the year was derived
mainly from activities carried out in Hong Kong. An analysis
of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023, assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred subsequent to the end of the year as
well as indication of likely future development in the business
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition, the
Group’s environmental policy, compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact of the Group and key
relationships with its stakeholders are set out in this Directors’
Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 167 of
this annual report.

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 90 of this annual report
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$11,312,000. Such amount represented share premium net of
accumulated losses of the Company, which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year in the ordinary course of business are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following transaction between certain connected persons (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and the Company had been
entered into or are ongoing for which relevant announcement, if
necessary, had been made by the Company in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen and a company
controlled by Mr. Chow Mo Lam and his close family members
(namely, Polyfaith Holdings Limited), had pledged their properties
to secure banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries within
the Group for nil consideration. As at 31 March 2023, other
borrowings of HK$8,900,000 were borrowed from a close family
member of Mr. Chow Mo Lam.

Pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, such transaction
is exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the requirements in Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the above financial assistance
received.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions set
out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statement constitutes
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company had conditionally adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which became
unconditional and effective on the Listing Date. Particulars of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report. No share option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing Date,
nor was there any share option outstanding, exercised cancelled or
lapsed as at the date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, no rights to subscribe for equity or debt
securities of the Company have been granted to or exercised by any
Directors or their associates since the effective date of the Share
Option Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years ended 31 March 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and
2023, is set out on page 168 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chow Mo Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Man

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah
Mr. Man Yun Yee
Mr. Wong Chi Yung

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Yu Lap On
Stephen (executive Director) and Mr. Wong Chi Yung (independent
non-executive Director) shall retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT
NON- EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the INEDs were appointed for a specific term of three years
and subject to the relevant provisions of the Articles or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.

Mr. Wong Chi Yung and Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah, each an INED,
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a term
of three years in 2018 and renewed his letter of appointment for
a term of three years from 23 February 2021 until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party
on the other. Another INED, Mr. Man Yun Yee, also entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company with a term of three years
from 12 February 2020 and renewed his letter of appointment for a
term of three years from 12 February 2023 until terminated by not
less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Chow Mo Lam, Mr. Yu Lap On
Stephen and Mr. Wong Kam Man, entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years in 2018 and renewed
his service agreements for a term of three years from 23 February
2021 until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors on a named basis
for the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company did not enter
into or have any management and administration contracts in
respect of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party, or in which a Director or its connected entities had a material
interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisted at the end of the
Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective close associates (not being the INEDs) are considered
to have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors and every one of them
is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their
offices or otherwise in relation thereto provided that this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the Reporting Period which provides
appropriate cover for legal actions brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023 the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, including interests and/or short positions which they
are deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Interests in shares of the Company

BERFH R E R

RIFAR 2RESLKE - REFYARRK
FHEEFPEM-ARTHRELERBELE
MEW%E%IEﬂﬁﬁ&TWEﬁ%E/
REBHIRINMARL  BR  WE -
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(a) REDARGHES

Percentage of

Long/short Number of  shareholding in
Name of Director Capacity Position shares held the Company
RAREH
EEpns g7 BR/ KR RGO #E BRET DL
Mr. Chow Mo Lam Interest of controlled Long position 600,000,000 75%
corporation Shares (Nete)
BB L XEHEEES A 600,000,0008%
g 53 (R
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Note: 600,000,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow") as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu")
as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in
the 600,000,000 shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each
of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded

GEE
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(b) FAZS 2 20 40 o4 M IR 49 10 18 34

(b) Interests in shares of the associated
corporation of the Company

Percentage of

shareholding in

the associated

Name of associated Long/short Number of corporation

corporation Name of Director Capacity Position shares held REBEEN

REEEER EEng 2 Be/ %R FiERG#E REBS L

CN.Y. Holdings Limited Mr. Chow Mo Lam Beneficial Owner Long position 83 shares Mt 83%
KBERARAF RARMEE EREAA i#E 83 M fn

CN.Y. Holdings Limited Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen Beneficial Owner Long position 17 shares (ot 17%
XBERARAA RUREHE BEHEBA 2 178 {7 %)

Note: 600,000,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings Mg7F © 600,000,0000% % 15 A ok BE 5 A% A BR

Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr.
Chow") as to 83% and by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu")
as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu are executive Directors.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow is deemed to be interested in
the 600,000,000 shares held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited. Each
of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings Limited is regarded
as a Controlling Shareholder.

AR (—ERABEZESEMAL
MERAR) BEERA - MkBEER
BRABBEBARMEE (TALE]D
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83% K17%MEwm o B ERARELE
HMAEARNTEFT BEEFSHRBAEK
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares, convertible notes or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange as at
31 March 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” in this report, as at 31 March 2023, so far
as was known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company,
the interests which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or of whom were deemed to be directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued capital of
the Company, or which were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or have been
notified to the Company were as follows:

Br ESCPTIR EE & SN 0 7A2023F3A31H ¢
EARANAREEARSTHRAESIEESTEN
HEARAR RS EEAEEBARG
HERG  TRREBENEREFR AR
2023F3A31HE R ALRR AR IEEFH K H
EIEDISE3521677 B B & i A () i e B
B NEMmFAMNE RN RERAAE
IS RAR o

TERRRRONEERAXR

BARE[EERETTRABRES - 15E
B kEEZNRESRAR ]| —BAIEES
AN FA2023F3A318 SRR AIEMESE
xS ITHRABIAM  RIEFESRBEED
EXVEPE2M3DEAREN L - W EE
BEESEEREARR B EITRAS%IA

ML - RIREE S M RPISE 336157
ENEAELMALHENER  AEAER
NRE ST

Percentage of
shareholding in

Long/short Number of the Company
Name of Shareholders Capacity Position shares held )i NVNEET B )
BREERE HH 56 3893} FRERHEE REBDL
C.N.Y. Holdings Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) Long position 600,000,000 MNote ) 75%
KBERBRRAR EmEA A (MED) LSy 600,000,000/%

Ms. Hau Pak Sui
EASELZ L

Interest of spouse (Note 2)

ALt an (M1aE2) S}

Long position

B 53 (D)
600,000,000 (Note2) 75%

600,000,0004%
B {7 (H3E2)

Notes:

ik 600,000,000 shares are directly held by C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability,
which is owned by Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow") as to 83% and
by Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu") as to 17%. Both Mr. Chow
and Mr. Yu are executive Directors. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chow
is deemed to be interested in the 600,000,000 shares held by C.N.Y.
Holdings Limited. Each of Mr. Chow, Mr. Yu and C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited is regarded as a Controlling Shareholder.
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2. Ms. Hau Pak Sui is the spouse of Mr. Chow and she is deemed to be
interested in the 600,000,000 shares, in which Mr. Chow is deemed
interested by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 31 March 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the share capital of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with the
exception of granting of share options to subscribe for shares under
the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors and their respective associates (not
being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the business
which compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”). Having made specific
enquiry with all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the Required Standard for the year ended 31
March 2023.
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NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders, namely C.N.Y. Holdings
Limited, Mr. Chow Mo Lam and Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen, entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 25
January 2018 (the “Deed”), details of which have been set out
in the Prospectus. The Company received a declaration from the
Controlling Shareholders in writing that each of the Controlling
Shareholders had complied with the terms of the Deed, including
all undertakings given by them in favour of the Company under
the Deed, during the year ended 31 March 2023. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the declaration and were
satisfied that the terms of the Deed had been duly complied with
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board had not
received any written confirmation from any of the Directors and
the Controlling Shareholders in respect of interest in any business
(other than the Group) which is or is likely to be directly or
indirectly in competition with our business.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the Reporting
Period, there were no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's five largest customers and the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 93% and 33% of the Group’s sales and purchases
respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group's largest customer and the aggregate purchases attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier were approximately 38% and 12%
of the Group's sales and purchases respectively.
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None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had a beneficial interest in any
of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers during the
Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the shares during the period from the Listing
Date to 31 March 2023.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 140 (2022: 117) employees.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is formulated
by the Remuneration Committee based on their merit, qualifications
and competence. It is the Group’s policy to compensate each
employee fairly and equitably. The Group has a system for
measuring employees’ performance against agreed-upon goals with
specific performance standards. Performance discussion is carried
out on an ongoing basis and a formal evaluation is conducted once
a year to review employees’ overall performance, achievements,
and areas in need of improvement. Salary review will be based on
individual performance and subject to the Group’s discretion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 46 of this annual
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

As a subcontractor that provides facade and curtain wall
works solutions in Hong Kong, the Group is subject to certain
environmental requirements in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include,
among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

We require our subcontractors to be in strict legal compliance
with the applicable environmental protection laws and regulations
during the whole term of engagement. During the year ended 31
March 2023, the Group did not receive notice of any environmental
non-compliance in Hong Kong addressed either to the Group or to
our subcontractors.

Discussions on the environmental policies and performance,
compliance by the Group with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group and the account of
key relationships between the Group and our stakeholders are
contained in the ESG Report on pages 47 to 68 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Group the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 and this
report, with the external auditor. There were no disagreements
from the auditor of the Company or the Audit Committee in
respect of the accounting policies adopted by the Company.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by the Company’'s
auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited which will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHOW MO LAM
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023

Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

BEREEE

EZZESRHASEEEERIAEBAN
R e st R A R AEH) - I 22 HNB X ERAD 5
WEZ NPELERMBERREE  BIESF
FE Z2023F3A31H L FEMNKEEZEE
Bk RARE o AR AR EAD sk Tz
ZEGHARBIRMAN ST RR I ET M

22¢
Rk o

% By B

MHEBREBARRNZBM P ELERR
BEHERARER  TEZESFEE
BRAERARBRARAEERRBFAS
FR{E BEREERAMBEER -

REESE

FTERHITEF
B E

EF7 - 2023F6A21H

Annual Report 2023 —Z - =45 81




Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Polyfair
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 87 to 167, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Revenue and profit recognition of construction
service and contract assets

Refer to Note 7 and Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s carrying value of the contract assets balances as well
as the revenue and profit recognised are based on estimates of
costs to complete. These estimates are significant to our audit
because the contract assets of HK$190,166,000 as at 31 March
2023 and the construction services revenue of HK$330,715,000
for the year then ended are material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s estimates involve application
of judgement and can be affected by a variety of uncertainties
that depend on the outcome of future events resulting in revisions
throughout the contract period.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Evaluating the Group’s estimation process;

- Agreeing contract sums and budgeted costs to signed
contracts and approved budgets;

- Challenging the reasonableness of key judgements and
assumptions inherent in the approved budgets;

- Assessing the reliability of the approved budgets by
comparing the actual outcome against estimates; and

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the related calculations.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BT R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We consider that the Group’s estimates of the contract assets
balance as well as the revenue and profit recognised are supported
by the available evidence.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Refer to Note 20 and Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group tested the amounts of trade receivables and contract
assets for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balances of trade receivables and contract assets
of HK$28,795,000 and HK$190,166,000 respectively, as at 31
March 2023 are material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits
and credit periods to customers;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
- Assessing ageing of the trade receivables;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements; and

- Testing subsequent contract work certification and settlement
of contract assets and receivables respectively after the end of
the reporting period on a sample basis.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables
and contract assets is supported by the available evidence.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B R BT R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYFAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED (continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's

website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
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Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P0O7374
Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

AEeREREMERRAR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLEFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
B ex TET FET
Revenue Wi 7 330,715 362,094
Cost of services ARG AR (313,779) (345,617)
Gross profit EF 16,936 16,477
Interest revenue 2 WA 186 32
Other income, gains and losses HEa A -~ Wz K EE 8 2,323 (81)
Reversal of impairment losses BHEEEBEREN TH
under expected credit loss REEEER - FE
model, net 9 31 459
Administrative expenses THFEX (9,016) (9,558)
Profit from operation REFBEA 10,460 7,329
Finance costs AR 10 (6,972) (3,977)
Profit before tax BR Bt A1 )2 Al 3,488 3,352
Income tax expenses Frisfi A 11 (470) (695)
Profit for the year F A% A 12 3,018 2,657
Other comprehensive BREBEM2E (X)),
(expense)/income after tax: WA :
Item that may be reclassified to ABEER P E R m AR -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on BMEBINEBFTE SR
translating foreign operations M ERE 9) 28
Other comprehensive FRHEHM2E X))
(expense)/income for the WA BB
year, net of tax (9) 28
Total comprehensive income FRE2HEKALE
for the year 3,009 2,685
Earnings per share BREF 15
Basic (HK cents) EAR (B 0.38 0.33
Diluted (HK cents) #5E OBAL) 0.38 0.33
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRRE
As at 31 March 2023
M2023F3H31H

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FHT FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MEE 16 190 315
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 3,011 1,634
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEFABZED
through profit or loss SREE 18 12,321 9,906
Deferred tax assets EEFIRE E 19 770 775
Deposits R& 22 4,400 4,400
20,692 17,030
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables H 5 W IE 20 28,795 29,462
Contract assets BREE 21 190,166 148,580
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE - R REM
receivables JE W kI8 22 32,664 18,782
Tax recoverable A] g[8 7 1R 165 =
Pledged bank balances EERRITER 23 36,035 27,412
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 23 14,527 12,500
302,352 236,736
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E A e FRIE 25 76,797 65,222
Contract liabilities EHEaE 21 1,829 =
Tax payable FEAT BiIE - 127
Bank and other borrowings RIT & H A& 5K 26 164,373 117,720
Lease liabilities HEBRE 27 1,472 1,672
244,471 184,741
Net current assets REBEEFE 57,881 51,995
Total assets less current HWEERARBARE
liabilities 78,573 69,025
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other borrowings H h & 5K 26 5,000 -
Lease liabilities HEAFE 27 1,539 =
Net assets EERE 6,539 =
72,034 69,025
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI K

As at 31 March 2023
7202338318

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
NOTES HK$ 000 HK$'000
B &E FExT FHET

Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital LN 28 8,000 8,000
Reserves 8 29 64,034 61,025
Total equity R 72,034 69,025

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 167 were FERIRI7TEMIEMBMRNIKESTERN
approved and authorised for issue by Board of Directors on 21 June 2023F6 H21 B b R T ZEI KL T 5=
2023 and are signed on behalf of by: ERKREE

Chow Mo Lam
R
Director

EZE

Yu Lap On Stephen
RIR
Director

EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ANy
mEEREHR
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE2023F3A31HLLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LA 2PN

Share Share Other Translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
BRAE  ROHORE W HeRE  BREEE REEA @t
(Note)
(FEE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THTL T THT THT THTL THIL
At 1 April 2021 7202154718 8,000 37,915 3,000 10 17,415 66,340
Total comprehensive income FRNE2ERALE
for the year = = = 28 2,657 2,685
At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H 8,000 37,915 3,000 38 20,072 69,025
At 1 April 2022 1202264718 8,000 37,915 3,000 38 20,072 69,025
Total comprehensive (expense)) ~ FRZE (A%)/
income for the year Nt - - - (9) 3,018 3,009
At 31 March 2023 1202343 A318 8,000 37,915 3,000 29 23,090 72,034
Note: Other reserve represented the difference between the share capital e : HtwFEEEAQARETIERNBEERER

of the Company issued as consideration of acquiring Polyfair
Construction & Engineering Limited (“Polyfair HK"”) and issued share
capital of Polyfair HK pursuant to a group reorganisation completed

on 19 January 2018.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE2023F3A31HLEFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBRERE
Profit before taxation B %4 Bl ) 3,488 3,352
Adjustment for: FRFIIE B ER AR
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRENE
equipment 178 269
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 1,634 1,677
Fair value gains on payments for life /\—T—f% 2 R B AN RO
insurance policies N E = (415) (78)
Finance costs &R AN 6,972 3,977
Interest income FEHA (186) (32)
Reversal of impairment losses under EHREEEBREXTH
expected credit loss model, net WEEEER - FHE (31) (459)
Operating profit before working capital LEEREBAN
changes 43k A 11,640 8,706
Change in trade receivables B 5 eI # &) 701 578
Change in prepayments, deposits and ?EH/TAIE ?E@&E@F&ﬁ
other receivables W sk IE (13,888) (16,246)
Change in contract assets A% é?“ (41,589) (27,673)
Change in trade and other payables %%&E@J’EH?A’E\@ 11,656 23,038
Change in contract liabilities BHEEED 1,829 =
Cash used in operations LEFTARE (29,651) (11,597)
Income taxes paid B EH (757) (526)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHMARSTE (30,408) (12,123)
Cash flows from investing activities REZHMERERE
Interest received SRS 186 32
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEEW% 5 ML&E (54) (110)
Placement of pledged bank balances FABERRITHEER (8,623) (32)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEERATEFABRZ
through profit or loss ERMEE (2,000) =
Net cash used in investing activities REZEHFMARESFE (10,491) (110)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cash flows from financing activities RETHRERERE
Interest paid BARF A (6,972) (3,977)
New bank borrowings raised I EITE R 475,973 519,017
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITIERK (424,320) (499,336)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (1,672) (1,649)
Net cash generated from financing RETHMERSFH
activities 43,009 14,055
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeRESEEY
EQUIVALENTS BnFEE 2,110 1,822
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NS TE R BB B (83) 55
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FONEEeRESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 12,500 10,623
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END EXRNBRERBELEEY
OF THE YEAR 14,527 12,500
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents REeRBSEEND N
Bank balances and cash RITERER 14,527 12,500
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Polyfair Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2017 and its shares are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Stock Exchange”) on 23 February 2018. Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is C.N.Y. Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at Unit 1206-7, 12th Floor, Fortress
Tower, 250 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) are provision of design
and project management services for facade and installation
of curtain wall systems in Hong Kong.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on
1 April 2022. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material
impact on its results of operations and financial position.

AN BRRWME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE2023F3A31HLEFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise their judgements in the process of applying
the accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 4 to these consolidated
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Consolidation (continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (HK$), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREFEE#E)
(continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued) SN E (&)
(c) Translation on consolidation (c) RERAZRE

The results and financial position of all the Group MEEEE B RN ARG 25 G

entities that have a functional currency different from ZHBSEBERNEERMBNK

the Company’s presentation currency are translated into o BERATFABRERARRATZ
the Company’s presentation currency as follows: 2IE%

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial () REFBFHRAKRZEINNEE
position presented are translated at the closing RaBRAEVBRIEAR
rate at the date of that statement of financial B mE xR E
position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average iy WARBIIZEFHERHRE
exchange rates (unless this average is not a (BRIEZFEHEXRWIEER
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect R 5 B AR ITE XA 25T
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in FENSBMEETA  MEL
which case income and expenses are translated at BAT  WARFZIREH
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and RH5BHMERRE) Kk

(iiiy  All resulting exchange differences are recognised in (i) FAEEMMABERZFAR
the foreign currency translation reserve. INER B FBENER o

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the RZARER  ERENEINERBKRE
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of FRERBRE BN EENE R ZFHR
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation INEIRE REENER o B LB BINER
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange - AEAELEZERGEAERTRERE
differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as HE Wk EBEEP L -

part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition WIEBINEREECHEBERATEARE
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the WRIEGIER EERABLIZRKT
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. fERIBHE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal annual rates are as follows:

Over shorter of the lease
terms or useful lives of
5 years

Furniture and office equipment  20%

Leasehold improvements

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

— Land and buildings 2 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration
costs. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases
are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

()

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised
cost and the conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive
income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets at amortised cost and
contract assets. ECL are the weighted average of credit losses
with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to the ECL that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime ECL")
for trade receivables and contract assets, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables and contract
assets) has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL
that represents the ECL that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance
at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to
a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the
laws that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can
be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance
obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees' basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of productions
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets except investments
and receivables to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment
loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

4. KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Revenue and profit recognition

The Group estimated the percentage of completion
of the construction contracts by reference to the
proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date to the estimated total costs for
the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the
Group is different from the amounts that were initially
budgeted, such differences will impact the revenue and
profit or loss recognised in the period in which such
determination is made. Budget cost of each project will
be reviewed periodically and revised accordingly where
significant variances are noted during the revision.

(b) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of
the trade and other receivables and contract assets,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be collectible. The identification of
bad and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and
loan receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the
year in which such estimate has been changed. If the
financial conditions of the debtors were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies
of the Group entities. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The Group has financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$12,321,000 (2022: HK$9,906,000)
which are denominated in US$. As HK$ is pegged to
US$, the directors of the Company consider that the
currency risk of US$ is insignificant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis for US$ is presented.

The Group also has certain transactions denominated in
RMB, but the directors of the Company consider such
exposure is not significant to the consolidated financial
statements and hence no sensitivity analysis for RMB is
presented.

5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of these assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’'s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit Description
rating

5.

B E kR EE (8
(b) FEREMR

AEBRR S FR2023F3A31
B 202293 A31 B RAEBITHR
REEEHRASCREENETH
FrEENEeEERRE  BZEE
ERERE TR RN R AT AR
H1E °

RE B A ERE 5 R R EF ARG
BIEATESR

Trade receivables/
contract assets

Other financial assets

ABEETSR  Hi EARKFE/ HttemERE
BNEE
Strong The counter-party is either listed company or subsidiary Lifetime ECL - 12 months ECL

under listed parent holding company with strong
financial background based on published financial
information publicly available in the market, creditability
and with debt balance past due within 0-1 year, and is
aged within its historical settlement pattern. The debtor
has very low probability of default.

B Q%%%$%%—ﬁtﬁ RIS BN~ LR

ﬁmWEAﬂ'm%mE“ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁéﬂ )

%“Ewr FERI BHARBETE-FR - K
BRHEBEAERS - F%ALWT%%#%1°

Good The counter-party is a private company with debt
balance past due within 0-1 year, and is aged within its
historical settlement pattern. The debtor has low
probability of default

Rif RHUFR-AIBARE  BREAROHTE—FR
R 5 B éﬁt F%AL%T%%R°
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
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= Bl By B ()
(b) FERE (&)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Internal credit  Description Trade receivables/ Other financial assets

rating contract assets

ABEEFR ML ESERRE/ HitemERE

BREE

Satisfactory The counter-party is a either listed company or Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
subsidiary under listed parent holding company with not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
strong financial background based on published
financial information publicly available in the market,
creditability and with debt balance past due within 1-2
years. The debtor frequently repays after due dates and
the balance often aged beyond its historical settlement
pattern. The probability of default is moderate.

e RHOHFAGR-—RETARSIERBR—FALTE  2HEHEEEE- PHRAEEHE-
BREQFNMELR  RENSARERNMBEH - UEHRESRE YELREERE
MBESEE  GERY  BHEREH-—EMEA -

EREALERIARRES  ARRREEERAR
HEE - BOMRIDRA -

Watch list The counter-party is either a private company with debt Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
balance past due more than 1 year or a listed company  not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
or subsidiary under listed parent holding company with
strong financial background based on published
financial information publicly available in the market,
creditability and with debt balance past due more than
2 years. The debtor frequently repays after due dates
and the balance often aged beyond its historical
settlement pattern. The probability of default is
concern

BitE RHHFR-AULALRE  ERERAH—FAL - 2HEHEEEHE- PHRAEEHE-
R—ELTRAARREER—F EHEREAFAGHE TELREEHE YELREERE
RE - REMSRARERNBBER  BBERER -

FERE - BHAEHBHBREMT - EHEALERIH
ARER  AREREEBRBEAEEN - BOWa
ML ABL -

Loss The counter-party has debt balance past due for more  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
than 2 years and there is evidence indicating the debtor credit-impaired credit-impaired
is credit-impaired. The probability of default is high.

BR XHHFHEBERBEMFU L - YERBETR PHRBEEEE- PHRAEEHE-
BERABEBREERE - BOARERS - ELBREERE BELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the counter-party is in -~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

6] BREERRZUFRNEENR  TEETE Ealag ik SR

BB RIER A B o
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

= Bl By B ()
(b) FERE (&)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. The Group reviews the
recoverable amount of trade receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In addition, the Group applies the simplified
approach on trade receivables and contract assets to
provide for ECL model, which permits the use of the
lifetime impairment allowance for trade receivables
and contract assets. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has concentration
of credit risk on trade receivables amounting to
HK$11,311,000 (2022: HK$7,470,000), representing
approximately 39% of the trade receivables (2022:
25%), due from a single customer (2022: a single
customer). As at 31 March 2023, trade receivables from
the five customers with the most significant balances
amounted to HK$23,887,000 (2022: HK$21,658,000)
representing approximately 83% (2022: 74%) of the
total trade receivables.

In determining the ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets, the management of the Group has
taken into account the historical default experience and
the future prospect of the industries and/or considering
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information, as appropriate, in estimating the probability
of default of each of the trade receivables and contract
assets occurring within their respective loss assessment
time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each
case.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

(continued)

REMBRRME
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= Bl B B R ()

(b) FERR (&)

The table below provides information about the
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets which are assessed individually based on
internal credit rating as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March
2022 within lifetime ECL.

Gross carrying amount

ESRERBUREREGHNEE
(%)
TRIGEZRERBHKERENEE
EERBEEHREESENER
Jy82023F3 318 &202243 A
STHRAZHBEHREEBERENAN
BB B R AR E RI RS -

Impairment losses

REAE RERHE
Average Trade  Contract Trade  Contract
Internal credit rating loss rate receivables assets Total receivables assets Total
15 ESEK EAEK

REBEEFR FRX RE  ANEE At RE  ANEE @t
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TAR TAT TAT TAR TAT

As at 31 March 2023 #2023%3A31H
Strong ) 0.56 23,938 157,715 181,653 9 925 1,019
Good R 0.54 4279 22,633 26912 PE] 123 146
Satisfactory MmE 1.62 - 2,595 2,595 - Y] Iy)
Watch list BrRE 1.93 706 8,479 9,185 1" 166 1717
Loss ER 100.00 2,647 - 2,647 2,647 - 2,647
31,570 191,422 222,992 2,775 1,256 4,031

As at 31 March 2022 2022434310
Strong %5 0.09 23,392 106,516 129,908 15 105 120
Good RIF 133 5,526 33,510 39,036 73 445 518
Satisfactory E 1.43 - 980 980 - 14 14
Watch list BrgE 8.00 706 8,827 9,533 74 689 763
Loss BR 100.00 2,647 - 2,647 2,647 - 2,647
32,27 149,833 182,104 2,809 1,253 4,062
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £REMEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets ESRRFREBRENEE
(continued) (#&)

The ECL on trade receivables and contract assets are
estimated individually by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

A trade receivable and contract asset is written off
when there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two
years past due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the
trade receivables that have been written off is subject to
enforcement activities.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year in
assessing the loss allowances for the trade receivables
and contract assets. The individual assessment is
regularly reviewed by management of the Group to
ensure relevant information about the specific debtor is
updated.
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £BEKBEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(b) FERR (&)

Trade receivables and contract assets ESRERBUREREGHNEE
(continued) (%)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRINHBREBEG AR E S EK
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the HNEEERNEHEREEEE
simplified approach: BE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
2HBEREEFE 2UESEEFE
(CEHEREERE) (EHBEEERE) @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THET FTAET
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4A1H 365 2,647 3,012
Reversal of impairment losses ¥ EURE & (297) = (297)
Impairment losses recognised & HERREE B 9% = 94
At 31 March 2022 and K202293A318 &

1 April 2022 202247818 162 2,647 2,809
Reversal of impairment losses % [El 5l B &5 12 (139) = (139)
Impairment losses recognised B FERIREE 12 105 - 105
At 31 March 2023 202363 A31H 128 2,647 2,775
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

The major customers of the Group are certain reputable
organisations. The management of the Group considers
that the credit risk is limited in this regard.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

For the pledged bank deposits and bank balances, no
impairment allowance was made since the directors
of the Company consider the probability of default
is negligible as such amounts are receivable from or
placed in banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £EEMRETE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets ESERREREHNEE
(continued) (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TREFHIBE B AR E R A
that has been recognised for contract assets (not credit EREE (TELEBEEFEEME)E
impaired) individually assessed under the simplified RO HBEHREEBEE
approach:
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
2HEHEERR
(Y E|EREERE)
HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2021 M2021564 518 1,510
Reversal of impairment losses B EREEE (798)
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE 541
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 M20226F3A31H K202264A18 1,253
Reversal of impairment losses Bk (B B 48 (891)
Impairment losses recognised B ERREE R 894
At 31 March 2023 20233 H31H 1,256

AEBNTERRPAETHAA
B AEBEEEERRMILMEE
ERBRAR -

BERARTER BRITER

e EWRITERLRITELRM
5 BHREBFORTIER BTN
REBREEFABBEETRE
SRIBHRTT - A RBEERR
BAMTTREMEMT RS - Bk &
R E R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £@iEKREE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)

Deposits

For deposits, no impairment allowance was made since
the directors of the Company consider the probability
of default is minimal after assessing the counterparties’
financial background and creditability.

Other receivables

In respect of other receivables, the 12m ECL is assessed
individually as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022
and the impairment allowance was provided by the
Group based on historical credit loss experience with
these counterparties.

As at 31 March 2023, 12m ECL of which HK$3,000
(2022: HK$3,000) is recognised for not credit-impaired
other receivables with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$544,000 (2022: HK$130,000).

The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL

Be

RREME - AABEFLHER
%ﬂ?ﬁ’]ﬁﬂ‘“jbg)&ﬁf%jﬂé
RRBEAN AR - B &
aﬂmﬂﬁﬁéﬁ

H ftb B W KR

H b B URRIB A 2023F3 A31H K
202293 A31H @3 <1218 A
TEHEEEIETE MAKEDRR
BZERFIEHFNBRBEEERERE
FRERETHRRE R -

R2023F3A318 ' E R ERm A&
%54 £ A5544,0000 7T (20224 -
130,000/ 7T ) Ky E ftb fE UL 5K IE (K
F3,000/% 7T (20224 : 3,000/
J0) Y EHIREERE) #R121E
BIEHEEEE -

TREI B E M BB RAD ER

that has been recognised for other receivables: W28 AEHREEEEEZE
12m ECL
(not credit-impaired)
NREAEHEERSR
(E|HEREERE)
HK$’000
FHT
At 1 April 2021 M2021564H18 2
Impairment loss recognised B #RREE R 1
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 20223 A31H &2022F481H 3
Reversal of impairment losses 7 [B] 7k (B &5 48 (2)
Impairment losses recognised B #RREE R 2
At 31 March 2023 202343 H31H 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GmEMEHKRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. TREMEE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBELRAMR
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current REENHKEATERNEREE R
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it EERBESRR  UERAEE
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity HETHANRSHEFEUNENRR
requirements in the short and longer term. HERBES T Ko
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flow, rEESBMAGRERRFTRES
of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: MEMIEBHBE ST
Repayable
on
demand or Between Between
less than 1and 2 2and5
1 year years years Total
RERL
1EREE 1-2% 2-5% #at
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FH&T FET FET
At 31 March 2023 7"2023F3H31H
Trade and other payables & 5 K E b &~ 508 67,366 2,283 - 69,649
Bank and other borrowings #8717 K& £ b {& 3 168,202 2,507 2,642 173,351
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,581 1,581 - 3,162
237,149 6,371 2,642 246,162
Repayable
on
demand or Between Between
less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
1 year years years Total
REKk
TERER 1-2%F 2-5% it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FAT FAET FAT
At 31 March 2022 20224634318
Trade and other payables & 5 [ H fib & (< 7 18 54,634 3,387 = 58,021
Bank borrowings RITIE N 121,065 = = 121,065
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,700 - - 1,700
177,399 3,387 - 180,786
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. £BEKBEE (&)
(d) A =RE

(d) Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from
its pledged bank balances, bank balances and cash and
bank borrowings. These deposits and borrowings bear
interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

The Group’s fixed-rate pledged bank deposits bear
interest at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject
to fair value interest rate risks.

At 31 March 2023, except for bank balances using 50
basis points (2022: 50 basis points), if interest rates
at that date had been 100 basis points lower with
all other variables held constant, consolidated profit
after tax for the year would have been HK$1,354,000
(2022: HK$931,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of
lower interest expense on bank and other borrowings.
Except for bank balances using 50 basis points (2022:
50 basis points), if interest rates had been 100 basis
points higher, with all other variables held constant,
consolidated profit after tax for the year would have
been HK$1,354,000 (2022: HK$931,000) lower, arising
mainly as a result of higher interest expense on bank
and other borrowings.

AEEERAOFERARESCHE
HRITRERR - RITEBRURRE R
RITER - AFERRMEFZET
B RO M E M FEFRETE e

AEEMNEEBRFRTE IR
BEMERE  MZRAFEFER
PR & o

M202343H31H @ B & AS501E
E 25 (20224 : 50fEEZL) BIERTT
RN - fHax B B F = RBE100
BEomATEEMmESHTTE
NEE LA BB 1& & 7 g g 0
1,354,0007 7T (20224F : 931,000
BL) c BEERERAEITREM
BEMF BRI TR o BREH
SOfEE 25 (20224 : SO0EEEL) B
RITAEERIN - WH 2= _EFH100E 2
MEATE R EIFTE AT
4RE B BLEE A R 221,354,000
77T (20224 : 931,000 7T) © &
FTERAABTREMEENF
BRAZEMATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(e) Categories of financial instruments

= Bl By B ()
(e) €RMIT AWER

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FH&ETT
Financial assets: TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKNATTENEREE
(including cash and cash (BB NREEEY)
equivalents) 84,824 74,441
Financial assets at fair value through &2 FEF AEZZH
profit or loss SENEE 12,321 9,906
97,145 84,347
Financial liabilities: TREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZE K ANt EN SR A & 239,022 175,741
(f) Fair value () 2¥E
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets iR & B SR 2R P I B ) 7R &R

and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers
out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(i) Disclosures of level in fair value

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

AFEIE
REETDEMS2EEZHAEERE
TOEFR ST HE —BEEMKEA
ERuEE—BREMHOER - U
TAFEAERBERANAFEBR
et B2 FEMAAGERTEABIRS
REEBA :

F—M WARE: AKERAEAA
ESMmBEREEXBENE
BmiSnmE CRERAE) -

R BWABE: F-AMAARE
SINERBEERBENEE
SR EHABE -

R BARE: EEXRENHTA
BRBARE -

AEEHNERDINERBENEHXB
M E BRI = EERMNE AKX
B -

(i) 2FEBREE

hierarchy
Fair value measurements using: AFERERA -
Level 3
E=R
HK$'000
FERT
At 31 March 2023 7"2023F3H31H
Recurring fair value measurements: BEERFERTE
Payments for life insurance policies ASRBREMNK 12,321
Fair value measurements using: ANTEEFEHER :
Level 3
B
HK$'000
FHET
At 31 March 2022 7A2022%3H31H
Recurring fair value measurements: KEEQAFERE
Payments for life insurance policies ASRBIRENK 9,906
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6.

(ii) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair

value based on level 3:

AV EE ()
(i) REE=FRZQNFETE
NWEEHK:
Payments for life

insurance policies

ABRBREMK

HK$’000
FAT
Description weE

At 1 April 2021 R2021F4718 9,828
Total gains recognised in profit or loss ® 18 25 FE R ) 4R U 78
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R2022F3 A31H K&2022F4H1H 9,906
Purchases BE 2,000
Total gains recognised in profit or loss ® KB R ERA B =D 415
At 31 March 2023 7202343 A31H 12,321
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTERT FABT

® Include gains for assets held at @ B FERHREEHRIT G
end of reporting period B E Y= 415 78

The total gains recognised in profit or loss including
those for assets held at end of reporting period are
presented in other income, gains and (losses) in the

statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by

the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements. The financial controller reports
directly to the Board of Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the financial controller and the
Board of Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in fair value
measurements are as follow:

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

APEE ()
(i) 350 35 2 85 I A O £ LR P

RoFEFERAGER
i K2 B A BUR

ARBA OB AR RIBRE
FENEEREEOATETE -
BEE=QATELE - HHEE
HIE R R E RS AT @
B HHREREERSTELT
R B RS RETH -

IE=RRFEFEMS @ AKH
BEREBAGBRANERER RO
HIE BRI EERETRE -

AFEFEMABERTIESRY
AEBERT -

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value for Fair value

Description techniques inputs Range increase of inputs 2023

TABE BAYEEM AVE

i fhERH BARE #8 HAVENYE 2023F

HK$'000

TR

Financial assets at fair value through  Discounted cash  Mortality rates 0.67% - 100% Increase 12,321
profit or loss - Payments for life flow RTE #m

insurance policies FRRESR Discount rates 1.57% - 4.60% Decrease

BRATEIABRNEREE- gk b

ARRBREMH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBE®RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6.

(iii) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements:

APEE ()

(i) 35 355 o L A O 1 LR
R4 F{E B R S E R
5 RN BUE (8

(continued)
Valuation Effect on fair value for Fair value
Description techniques Unobservable inputs Range increase of inputs 2022
BABREM NHE
fait fbER FUBRGAUE #E HATENPE 20028
HK$'000
T
Financial assets at fair value through Discounted cash ~ Mortality rates 0.69% - 100% Increase 9,906
profit or loss - Payments for life flow A S
insurance policies FRESR Discount rates 0.64%-2.29%  Decrease
BATESARRNEREE - hRE 0

ASRBRERNR

During the two years, there were no changes in the

valuation techniques used.

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and
receivable from provision of construction services. An analysis

of the Group’s revenue is as follow:

RMEFER - PR/ ERMNILE

&

o

Wz R 2 &R E B
KRR RS T E MRS
MATE - ARBROWREAFTMT -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Construction services for residential HEEMENEER
properties 234,797 157,197
Construction services for commercial HEEMENEER
properties 95,918 204,897
Revenue from contracts with customers KRB &EF A LIRS 330,715 362,094
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the
chief executive of the Group) reviews the overall results and
financial position of the Group, which are prepared based on
the same accounting policies set out in note 3. Accordingly,
the Group presents only one single operating segment and no
further analysis is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group’s
revenue are all derived from Hong Kong based on the
location of services delivered and the Group’s non-current
assets (excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets) are
substantially located in Hong Kong.

Timing of revenue recognition

All timing of revenue recognition is over time for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

7.

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

W 55 K 2 #B & ¥ ()
7 EE

RERDELRBATEMS - TELE
REE (AAEBERSTHRAR) A
SEEBEEEENPBAMR - EITRIEH
3BT AR B S BURRER - E It -
AEBEZ2Y —EE-—NKED0H - X
EE2DNE— M -

i & & B

IBR IR RIS A0 8 - AN E Uk 251
KEES MAEEMIERBDHEE (R
BESHEEREEHBEEE) ALHH
R B » B E 25 E AR o

iy 35 78 5 B

#HE2023F K2022F3A31H ILFE -
FrE RS EREBYE A —ERERE -

Information about major customers ERXEEFNESR
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% REAN (RSB BUZR10%T A LB
or more of the Group’s total revenue during the year is as B ZEEKREDT
follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET TFET
Customer A ZEA 19,282* 101,562
Customer B =FB 125,711 94,156
Customer C EPFC 70,653 92,738
Customer D =FD 69,220 47,980
& The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the * HEFE B U 25 30 4 B 7N £ B 4 Uk 25 B e

total revenue of the Group.

10% LA E o
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about major customers
(continued)

Construction service fee income

The Group provides design and project management services
for facade and installation of curtain wall systems to the
customers. When the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligations of a construction contract
can be measured reasonably, revenue from the contract and
the contract costs are recognised using the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to the percentage
of contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total
contract costs for the contract. This method provides the most
reliable estimate of the percentage of completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of a construction contract cannot be
measured reasonably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
of contract costs incurred that is expected to be recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according
to the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If
the service rendered by the Group exceeds the payments,
a contract asset is recognised. If the payments exceed the
service rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

The contract price is allocated to the performance obligations
based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of the
performance obligations. The stand-alone selling prices are
determined by applying the expected cost plus a margin
approach.
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8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A B ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

8. Htbla A - KWEREE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Exchange gain/(loss) P& 5 W ek, /(&5 18) 209 (202)
Fair value gains on payments for life ASRBREMNRATE

insurance policies & 415 78

Government subsidy AT %8 B 1,699 =

Sundry income A - 43

2,323 (81)

REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER 9.

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET

RAEEEEEN T RES

BRE - FE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT F&TT
Reversal of impairment losses on trade Z 5 W IE R EEE
receivables, net o - HEE 34 203
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment & #1&E CREEE),/
losses on contract assets, net BEBEREE - 558 (3) 257
Impairment losses on other receivables, net = fth Ji& Uy 2k 8 sl (B 518
SR EE - (1)
31 459
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 5(b). B R E TG B B EH R M sE5(b) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

10. FINANCE COSTS

10. B E K A

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHBTT

Interest on bank and other borrowings HR1T K B A 18 5K 6,944 3,883
Interest on lease liabilities HEBER S 28 94
6,972 3,977

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

11. FISHEX

2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BRI — BB NG

— Provision for the year —FERNEE 465 620

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax ~ ENHAFZ I8 — R B TS
— Over-provision in prior years —BEFEEBEERE - (1)
Deferred taxation (note 19) FEIER 1A (KM15E19) 5 76
470 695

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5%.

Hong Kong Profit Tax has been provided at the rate of 8.25%
on assessable profits up to HK$2 million and 16.5% on any

part of assessable profit over HK$2 million for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

According to the Enterprise Income Tax Law (FZE A R HF
B ZATSHE) and the Implementation of the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the PRC (P ZEARAMBIBEFMETEE
K 1&41), an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise (/)»
FUIBIFIZ) is subject to preferential tax treatments. From
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the annual taxable
income not more than RMB1,000,000 of a Small Low-profit
Enterprise is subject to Enterprise Income Tax calculated
at 12.5% of its taxable income at a tax rate of 20% and
the annual taxable income between RMB1,000,000 and
RMB3,000,000 is calculated at 50% of its taxable income at a
tax rate of 20%. From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022,
the annual taxable income not more than RMB1,000,000 of
a Small Low-profit Enterprise is subject to Enterprise Income
Tax calculated at 12.5% of its taxable income at a tax rate of
20% and the annual taxable income between RMB 1,000,000
and RMB3,000,000 is calculated at 25% of its taxable
income at a tax rate of 20%. From 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2024, the annual taxable income not more than
RMB3,000,000 of a Small Low-profit Enterprise is subject to
Enterprise Income Tax calculated at 25% of its taxable income
at a tax rate of 20%.

During both years, a subsidiary of the Group is eligible as
a Small Low-profit Enterprise and is subject to the relevant
preferential tax treatments. No provision for Enterprise Income
Tax for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 has been
made as the subsidiary did not generate any assessable profits
during both years.

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

11. IS8 (@)

HRPEAREIMBECERESRER
FiEAREMBESERSREE MK
Bl FENEHHCEERNERETZ
BEBES - N2021F1 818 £2021
F12A8318  NEIMAIDEZ FEE
SR A R TR A A R #1,000,0007T
REB DB R A R 12.5% %8
Q0% AT EREFBH  MEERR
g A m A AR #1,000,0000 & AR
#%3,000,0007T & &6 17 78 Bt £ & 3R B UL
ARI50%IEFE R20% T E DTSR -
2022491 81H 20225128318 -
NRUIF D EZ FERRRBLART
i@ A R %1,000,0007T 8 2015 B 7t &
FER R U A 12.5% 8 T R20% 5+ E 1
EHEHR MEEERIHRWAHN T
AR #1,000,0007T & A R#3,000,000
JT H) B 10 78 Bt H FE SR UL A 925 %1%
TRE20% T E B EMEH - 12023F 1
A1H Z2024F12 8318 » /NUERF 0
X2FERRABBMAFTBBEARE
3,000,0007T B9 2619 78 5t H FE =R 7 A
HI25%3R T R20% T E D EFTEH -

RRAEEE  ~&EE—HEBARME
N R EER T ZHHBEERT
B AN B AR R E E2023F &
20223 A318 IEFE W &EE EEAE
REE A - B E R Z R EF R
EECY
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

11. FISHBE X (@)
ENFEHREYREABNREMEE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

WA SR B R B AT A B RR AT

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&TT

Profit before taxation B A A1 A 3,488 3,352
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate at & & & FESF 5 X16.5%

16.5% AHEBTIE 576 553
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A 15 fI sk R 75 &2

tax purpose 407 418
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BAERTBRA TS 5 &

purpose (355) (94)

Tax effect of estimated tax losses not REERMETHIEEER

recognised -4 4 4

Over-provision in prior years BT FERERE - (1)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries i & 2 A Rt R 52 & 9 (10)

Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime ™ 4% | 15 %1 T & | #Y) 52 28 (165) (165)

Others HAh (6) (10)

Income tax expenses et 470 695
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12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

12. FREF

The staff costs were expensed in direct costs and administrative
expenses amounting to HK$48,946,000 (2022: HK$44,188,000)
and HK$4,938,000 (2022: HK$5,723,000) respectively.

*

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHxT FHTT
The Group’s profit for the year is stated RNE BB F AN TR
after charging the following: HBRLATEEEZZ
Directors’ remuneration (note 13) BEHN (MIsE13) 6,343 6,526
Other staff costs: B8 TR :
Salaries and other benefits HEKEMER 44,484 40,538
Retirement benefit schemes contributions R K1E | 5+ 2] 3¢ 3,057 2,847
Total staff costs* 8 TR AN4a%E* 53,884 49,911
Auditor’s remuneration % SR ] & 595 585
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRERTE
equipment 178 269
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,634 1,677

BEIRNAREERARITRHAX
R @55 5l /48,946,000
7t (20224 : 44,188,000/ 7T) &
4,938,000 7T (20224F : 5,723,000/%

) ©
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REMBE®RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'s AND

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive'’s

emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief

13. %% "EBREITHRAEREES
(a) EERBEESTHAEMSE

ENHENARRAERTRRZRT

executive of the Company are as follows: BAEHBEMAT
Performance
and Retirement
Salariesand  discretionary scheme
Fee  other benefits bonus  contributions Total
e HEREMEA BNRRERL  BAHEER gt
(note i) (note i) (note i)
(B &) (RizEii) (R i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Thx TR THx TR THx
Executive directors #i7gs
M. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu") RUZEE(REE]) - 222 184 12 2418
Mr. Chow Mo Lam (“Mr. Chow") RRmtE(A%E) - 1,661 137 - 1,798
Mr. Wong Kam Man ERXEE - 1322 109 18 1,449
Independent non-executive directors  BUFHTES
Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah ERERT 26 - - - 26
Mr. Wong Chi Yung IFRELE 26 - - - 26
Mr. Man Yun Yee XEREE 26 - - - 26
Total for 2023 23F &5 678 5,205 430 30 6,343
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILEE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’s AND 13.EE - BRETHAEBRES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) M (&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBEETHRAEMS
emoluments (continued) (&)
Performance
and Retirement
Salaries and discretionary scheme
Fee other benefits bonus contributions Total
He  HEREMER GARBERL  RAHEER E25)
(note i) (note ii) (note iii)
(BizFi) (P &) (Bt i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Yu Rk - 2,121 593 18 2,138
Mr. Chow FrE - 1,592 131 - 1,723
Mr. Wong Kam Man ERXEE - 1,265 134 18 1417

Independent non-executive directors  BUFHTES

Dr. Lung Cheuk Wah RRERT 216 - - - 216
Mr. Wong Chi Yung IFELE 216 - - - 26
Mr. Man Yun Yee XEREE 216 - - - 216
Total for 2022 W0E4 5 648 4,984 858 36 6,526

Notes: M &E -

()  The emoluments of independent non-executive directors () FIRBIUERITESHME AR
shown were for their services as directors of the BEEERN R ESEMERR
Company. B TRE o

(iiy  The executive directors' emoluments shown above were (i) EXFRBTESNMNESARE
for their services in connection with the management ZEBARR A RAEEEB PR
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The HE) AR TS M SR B € o REE
emoluments of Mr. Yu were also for his services in the B & IR R IR EFTIRAR R P
capacity of chief executive officer. REORBENZSOME -

(iiiy  The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to (i) BIBELTIZEFRNKLEE
the operating results, individual performance and market B BAARBRTAERE

condition during the year.
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’s AND 13.EE " BRETHRAEREES
€ (&)

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive'’s
emoluments (continued)

During both years, no emolument was paid or payable
by the Group to any directors of the Company as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. There is no arrangement
under which a director has waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals include three (2022:
three) directors whose emoluments are presented in
the disclosures in (a) above. The emoluments of the

() EERRETBRAENE
(%)
RAEFRE - A B AR
EMEEXREREMHS - (F
AN A S B B ) SR
ARBAE - BEEEHREXAE
HEEMHS LT -

(b) EEME

AEZSHEALTH =4 (2022
F:ZR)AEESE EMEERE
X(a)AHFE o 8 TMA (20224 ¢

remaining two (2022: two) individuals are as follows: ME) ATHB ST
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT T TT
Salaries and other benefits Fe kEMER 1,893 1,834
Performance and discretionary bonus FBERMIBEA 157 192
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 38 K& Fll 51 21 4t 7% 18 20
2,068 2,046
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILEE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’s AND 13. 55 - BETHRABRES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) <& (4&)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued) (b) EEBME (&)
Their emoluments are within the following bands: BEHMMEEMT -
2023 2022
2023% 20224
Number of Number of
employees employees
BEAH BEAH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
2 2
During both years, no emolument was paid by the RREEE  AEEHERRTSS
Group to the five highest paid individuals as an AT AERBNS - EAINA
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as o A h0 A 7N £ B B By 32 B ok B B
compensation for loss of office. g o
14. DIVIDENDS 14. R 2
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company EHZE2023F3A31B IEEE » A2 FHE
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). R - Bk SR E MR B (2022
%)
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REMBE®RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

based on the following:

15. BRAER

A ©

BREAREERNITIREIA T ZAG

Earnings 25
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Earnings for the purpose of calculating R EERERNREEAF
basic and diluted earnings per share i = & & F 3,018 2,657
Number of shares R4 E B
2023 2022
2023 20224
‘000 ‘000
T T A%
Weighted average number of ordinary AT ETIRER RSB A
shares for the purpose of calculating i S B M AR I AE T &
basic and diluted earnings per share 800,000 800,000
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. W% - BERKRE

Furniture
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Total
HERE HBARBLARE mct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR THER
COST 5%
At 1 April 2021 M2021F4A1H 828 1,425 2,253
Additions NE - 110 110
Exchange differences b K, = 58 - 10 10
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 7A2022463A318 &
20224718 828 1,545 2,373
Additions NE - 54 54
Exchange differences BEHZ5 = (20) (20)
At 31 March 2023 R20239F3H31H 828 1,579 2,407
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Rt e
At 1 April 2021 M202164 418 828 953 1,781
Charge for the year FExH - 269 269
Exchange differences BE M =5 - 8 8
At 31 March 2022 and R202263H318 Rk
1 April 2022 202254 H1H 828 1,230 2,058
Charge for the year FEXH - 178 178
Exchange differences [ 5 =58 - (19) (19)
At 31 March 2023 M2023F3H31H 828 1,389 2,217
CARRYING AMOUNT HREE
At 31 March 2023 2023534318 - 190 190
At 31 March 2022 M202243H31H - 315 315
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE

Disclosure of lease-related items: HEMBER #HE :
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&TT
At 31 March: M3A318 :
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Land and buildings — i REF 3,011 1,634
The maturity analysis, based on AEEREAGRE
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s AT E L HRIELH
lease liabilities is as follows: ZEE ST
— Less than 1 year —1FR 1,581 1,700
- Between 1 and 2 years —1ZE:24 1,581 -
3,162 1,700
Year ended 31 March: HEIABILEE -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE
— Land and buildings — i REF 1,634 1,677
Lease interests HE#D 28 94
Expenses related to short-term leases RHEAERBRX 418 471
Total cash outflow for leases HERS KL BT
(including short-term leases) (BREEHEE) 2,118 2,214
Additions to right-of-use assets RNEFRAEEE 3,011 =

The Group leases various land and buildings. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

18. RAFEHFABRENEMEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEBEFABRZD
profit or loss L REE
— Payments for life insurance policies —AESRBREMNK 12,321 9,906

The amount of appropriately HK$9,421,000 represents
two life insurance policies entered into by Polyfair HK in
September 2017 (the “Policies”) for two directors of the
Company, namely Mr. Chow and Mr. Yu, which changes in
fair value are recognised through profit or loss.

Under the Policies, the beneficiary and policy holder is
Polyfair HK and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000.
Polyfair HK paid an upfront payment of US$623,822
(equivalent to HK$4,881,000) and US$471,857 (equivalent to
HK$3,692,000). Polyfair HK can terminate the policies at any
time and receive cash back based on the net nominal account
value of the Policies at the date of withdrawal, which is the
gross premium paid, plus accumulated interest income less
any deductions and the applicable surrender charges made in
accordance with the Policies. Polyfair HK receives an interest
income at variable rates, at which the insurer guaranteed a
minimum interest rates of 3.9% per annum for the 1st to
the 5th policy year and 2.25% per annum for the rest of
the policy years. Surrender charge is payable if the Policies
are terminated by Polyfair HK between the 1st and the 15th
policy year in accordance with the Policies. The management
expected that the Policies will be held upon the expected lives
of the two directors insured for a period of 20 years.

The amount of appropriately HK$2,900,000 represents one
life insurance policy entered into by Polyfair HK in November
2022 (the "HS Policy”) for one director of the Company,
namely Mr. Chow, which changes in fair value are recognised
through profit or loss.

479,421,000 TR RIBIEBEZEEER
2017F9R AAXRalmEBES (AA%
ERREE) TR ASREBRE
([RE])  EAFELEF B BIERME
7 .

BERE IZARREFEALE
BHRE  #BIRIRE 51,000,000 5T °
EREBE B HIE623,822%E T
(1 & 74,881,000 7T) K 471,8573 T
(& 73,692,000/ 7T) ° B2 E B A
BERFAR IEIREE - WARBIREEMIRER A H3
MNEZREAFERLDIRE  AENRE
HRFE N 2 5T A B U AR E (] R N EE AR
BRESNGNBERERFEEN R
SR BED BRI ST RERSF B
A REBARIEREIZFESAREEE
ERIEERN R A3.9% - EAREFE A
225%  HREMBEERREBERIESR
15EREFERRIE - BIRIKREA

MERFEEZ EHEBEABIARET
REEMNTERSH20FHBEAIRE o

432,900,000/ ST RIBIE B ZEH B R
2022F 1M ABARTR—RES (AE%
E)VEIN M — D ASRBIRE ([EFEK
ZRRE])  EAFELEEBRER
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

18.

19.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Under the HS Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is
Polyfair HK. Polyfair HK paid a single premium of US$256,000
(equivalent to HK$2,000,000). Polyfair HK can terminate the
HS Policy at any time and the HS Policy is surrendered for
cash equal to the net cash value plus special dividend and
policy value management balance calculated at the date the
surrender request is processed. The management expected
that the HS Policy will be held upon the expected lives of the
director insured for a period of 20 years.

The fair values of the Company’s life insurance policies at
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out on those dates by
Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer not related to the Group whose address
is Unit 2106, 21/F, Futura Plaza, 111-113 How Ming Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Details of the valuation
are set out in note 6.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised by
the Group.

18.

19.

BAVEFABENEREE
(#)

BERBERZE2RE SHEARRE
BEARBRE B BERBEBXIMAT
256,000 7t (& $22,000,000% JT)
ME—RE ERAFTSUBEHRIER
RZ2RE BERZEZRENRRES
BENRERRAZAPFENRSF
BENFERREMREEEEEME T
BEEFERZEXRESNERSD
0F M A RER LT RRE -

KRB ASRBRIRENR2023F3 31
HN&2022F3A31HMAFETIERH
HASEBMEBENE L EXGER
THRTFEERAR (Hipit AEBN
BEERIEITERAT111-11358 = M B 352106
E)RZEAHETHNHEETE - A
FIBEA I FEG o

EEREBEE
AEEERNIBECHELENT -

Impairment Accelerated
allowance depreciation
for ECL allowance Total
FHEE
BEAVRE
BB IERFERE et
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THET TFET T
At 1 April 2021 202144 A18 747 104 851
Debit to profit or loss (note 11) RiEEHBR (BFFE11) (76) = (76)
At 31 March 2022 and K2022F3HA318 &
1 April 2022 2022F4H1H 671 104 775
Debit to profit or loss (note 11) R (BFFE11) (5) = (5)
At 31 March 2023 7202363 A31H 666 104 770

The Group has unused tax losses of HK$283,000 (2022:
HK$210,000) available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax loss of HK$283,000 will expire in 2024 to
2027.

144 rolyfair Holdings Limited B2 £ AR A 7

AEE B RS A IEEE283,0008 7T
(20224 : 210,000/ 7T ) AI FB A I 8 22
EB BB RMARRER RH -
R A TR AL R RO T ORI S
ABAREBEBERELEHIBEE - B
TH [E518283,000/%5 7T 15 722024 F £2027
FEER °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

20. E % EBWRIR

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade receivables B 5 MW FRIE 31,570 32,271
Less: allowance for bad and doubtful debts & : REEBREE (2,775) (2,809)
28,795 29,462

The Group allows a credit period of 14 to 30 days to its
customers for construction works after the work is certified,
except for several credit worthy customers to whom an
extended credit period would be granted. An ageing analysis

AK%IBAW%HEZE% TR PEETE

BIERF14E30BMEES 5T
—;Eﬁ%ﬂ@%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁifﬂsﬁwl\o
RBREARE S ERUBGIEREZZBE

of the trade receivables, presented based on the invoice date TEERBRE DITAAT ¢
at the end of the reporting period, is as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$000 HK$’000
THET FHTT
0 - 30 days 0%30H 23,840 9,719
31 - 90 days 31%90H 2,728 19,030
Over 90 days 90H A 2,227 713
28,795 29,462

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed
regularly.

As at 31 March 2023, the management of the Group
closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and
the balance of past due 90 days or more of HK$2,227,000
(2022: HK$713,000) is not considered as in default based on
historical settlement pattern for those debtors and continued
business with the Group.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set
out in note 5(b).

REZTAHEF 28 AEBEGF
BERFHNEEERIREEFNER
HE AEEETHRIEFNERER
J_go

R2023F3H318 - AEEERE R
EREIRUGENERESEZR  BER
EHREFSANBEEREAREAER
R EXBRE - B0 sk A Ery%E
#:2,227,000 7T (20224F : 713,000
T TR ABEER -

BB Z BB REFENFFEIR
Ff5E5(0)
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

21. EHNEERERE

Disclosures of revenue-related items: WEWZMEEEER -

As at As at As at

31 March 31 March 1 April

2023 2022 2021

20235 MR20224F HR20214F

3HA31H 3H31H 4H1H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T T

Contract assets — construction BHEE—FEE 190,166 148,580 120,650

Contract liabilities — construction & #) 8 & — &5 1,829 = =
Contract receivables (included & # WA

in trade receivables) (st AE S el FIE) 28,795 29,462 29,837

Based on the information available to the Group at the
end of each reporting period, the management of the
Group expects the transaction price allocated to the above
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) contracts in respect of
provision of construction services as at 31 March 2023 of
HK$485,000,000 (2022: HK$476,000,000) will be recognised
as revenue during the year ending 31 March 2024 to 2026
(2022: the year ended 31 March 2023 to 2025).

Year ended 31 March

BERSHBERARAEERSHER
AEEEREEREANR202343H318 S
Bz Rt RETT (BE D RETT) Ieft&
ERBE LN B H485,000,000
7 7T (20224 : 476,000,000 7T) 18 7
H E20245F 220263 A31H IEEE
(20224 : & £20234 £2025%3 A31
HIEFE) BRBKE -

HEIAZIHIEFE

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT T

Revenue recognised in the year that was REFAELNEE
included in contract liabilities at beginning I A F A ERR B U

of year
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21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2
(continued)

=

Significant changes in contract assets and contract liabilities
during the year:

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

. AHNEEREE (@)

FRANEEMEHNAEBNEANES

2023 2023 2022 2022

20234 20234 20224 20224

Contract Contract Contract Contract

assets liabilities assets liabilities

AHEE EHERE BHEE EHEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx TER THET FHET

Increase due to operations in the year 4 AR 4% 4 i 3 f1 131,243 1,829 97,878 -
Increase due to reversal of FEE & EERE

impairment of contract assets =yl 891 N/A 798 N/A

Decrease due to impairment of AeafEEREmRD

contract assets (894) N/A (541) N/A
Transfer of contract assets to EREEEBREREK

receivables HIE (89,654) N/A (70,205) N/A
Transfer of contract liabilities to EHEEERE NG

revenue N/A REH - NATER -

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for products or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer products or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

BHEERAKENARERNEFER
7E h AR 75 T U ER X (B RO A -

BHBERAEE B WER(E (HEN
REBP) MATFEBEREIRED
5% e
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 21. EHREERERE (B

(continued)

Retention receivables relating to contracts in progress of M2023F3HA31H - HERE R E
HK$49,982,000 (2022: HK$39,942,000) are included in W {R B €©49,982,0007% 7T (20224 :
contract assets as at 31 March 2023. Retention monies will 39,942,000 L) sSFAG RN EE © (RE
be released after completion of defect liability period of the SRREBESHRIEE FETHER
relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms specified BHRIBREBEBAELTRGER (8%
in the relevant contracts, ranging from 1 to 2 years from the ERRTEHBBET —EMF) EMR
date of the issuance of the practical completion certificate. br o REKHFFIEME L TIEE R TK
Upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out % REBENEREMBEZEERET
in the contract, the architect for the building project will FH —MRME - RELERERITFR
issue a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon the % MBEANIREN —FRESKEMN
issuance of the practical completion certificate, half of the TAEE  MEHK—FHERBREEER
retention money of such contract work will be released to FHAGE R 3 D BB SETH B PR3 R A
the Group, while the remaining half will be released to the BEEEEBENEERERTAEE -
Group upon the issuance of the certificate at the end of B UL IR B & #942,409,0005 7T (2022
defect liability period that identified defects in respect of the % : 33,641,000 7T) 7,573,000/ 7T
entire building project have been made good. Approximately (20224 : 6,301,000/ 78) A % Bl —
HK$42,409,000 (2022: HK$33,641,000) and HK$7,573,000 FAL—FRKD -

(2022: HK$6,301,000) of retention receivables are recoverable
within one year and after one year, respectively.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set B HNEERENGNFBER N T
out in note 5(b). 5(b) °
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 2. A RE - RERHEMER

RECEIVABLES RIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Prepaid project expenses TENIEE MX 31,027 16,798
Prepayments TE IR 570 1,317
Rental and other deposits HekHEMize 4,926 4,940
Other receivables H {th e U FR I8 541 127
37,064 23,182

Analysed as: Pak =%

Current assets MENE E 32,664 18,782
Non-current assets (note) EREBEE (MiFE) 4,400 4,400
37,064 23,182
Note: cash deposits of HK$4,400,000 (2022: HK$4,400,000) W3 : 34 17 24,400,000 7T (2022
were pledged to a third party to secure surety bonds of 14,400,000 0) EER T E
HK$12,088,000 (2022: HK$12,088,000) as disclosed in note SHUBRSEMEAEENE®
31. ¥ 1R12,088,000/% T (20224 :

12,088,000/ 7T) °

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other 12 & & B 8 WK IE B R E AT A 5 IR R
receivables are disclosed in note 5(b). S wE5(b) 55 o
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

23. PLEDGED BANK BALANCES/BANK 23. CEARTES RITERR
BALANCES AND CASH B&
Pledged bank deposits of HK$36,035,000 (2022: M2023F3A31H  CERBITEXR
HK$27,412,000) carry interest at prevailing market rate 36,035,000/ JT (20224 : 27,412,000
ranging from 0.10% to 4.00% (2022: 0.08% to 0.15%) per L) RIBIT IS FFEN F0.10% 2
annum as at 31 March 2023. 4.00% (20224 : 0.08%%=0.15% ) &T
B o
At 31 March 2023, the pledged bank deposits of 7202343 H31H8 ' 36,035,000/% 7T
HK36,035,000 (2022: HK$27,412,000) have been pledged (20224 27,412,000/ 7T) tH 2 E 4R
to secure the bank loans of HK$133,514,000 (2022: THERE LR 1EA133,514,0005% 7T
HK$97,610,000) and bank overdrafts of HK$4,938,000 (2022: (20224 : 97,610,000/ 7T ) $RITE R &
HK$19,000). Details of bank loans and bank overdrafts please 4,938,000/ JT (20224 : 19,000/ JT)
refer to note 26. RITETWER - BEARITERRIERT
BEIXHFHEB2HME26 -
Bank balances and cash comprise of cash on hand and ROTEHEHRERSBEFERS RER
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three PR A31ME A sk A T 85 B R 17 77 3K
months or less, and carry interest at prevailing market rate of R 1T % F ) #0.625% (20224 :
0.625% (2022: 0.01%) per annum. 0.01%)FFE °
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

24. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, BETREE

The followings were the Group’s financial assets as at 31 AN ABAREER2023F3A318 5B BI%

March 2023 that were transferred to banks by factoring THEREEREREE HEKFIE
relevant trade receivables of HK$19,842,000 (2022: 19,842,000/ 7T (20224 : 11,958,000
HK$11,958,000) on full recourse basis. As the Group has B MEZTFHRTNEREE - BAR
not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating REBE EAGZERBRIBANEBEAR
to these receivables, it continues to recognise full carrying B R El R HEERRSREE
amount of the financial assets and has recognised the cash R 2 EERME - I 288 a2 RE i W B Y
received on the transfer and included as secured bank loans. HEWRWT AFRBPRITERA © %
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the LIRMEEMSZE VB K N ILEE

consolidated statement of financial position. PR AN DI B o

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Carrying amount of transferred assets PEEEENREE 19,842 11,958
Carrying amount of associated liabilities BBt & EMEREE (19,842) (11,958)
Net position F AR - =
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. ES R HMEMNRIE

2023 2022

2023 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAT

Trade payables B 5N IR 52,462 44,627
Retention payables- amount payable ERREE—AR—FNRN

within one year Y eEE 14,766 9,880
Retention payables- amount payable ERRE® AR —Fi&

after one year SRR 2,283 3,387

Accrued charges EETE A 7,148 7,201

Other payables H {th &~ 3008 138 127

76,797 65,222

The credit period granted to the Group by suppliers and HEFESBEEGETASENEEDRAR

subcontractors is 30 to 60 days. The following is an ageing 30E60H c LT RRIMERR  Z5E

analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date NRIBEREZ BB RE DT -

at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
20234 20224

HK$"000 HK$'000

THxT T TT

0-30 days 0Z30H 20,352 32,117
31-60 days 31E60H 7,114 3,704
61-90 days 61%290H 5,556 3,884
Over 90 days 90H M £ 19,440 4,922
Total @t 52,462 44,627
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. $R1T R H & =K
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Bank loans RITER 155,535 117,701
Bank overdrafts ﬁETT}ESE 4,938 19
Other borrowings — amount due to a HAfEs — e — B
related party RIE 8,900 =
169,373 117,720
Carrying amount repayable based on BEER B EETE
scheduled repayment dates set out in BB HFENEER
loan agreements: FREE :
— On demand or within one year —BREBKRY—FNR 154,358 110,706
— More than one year, but not ——F A EEMEA
exceeding two years 4,024 1,604
— More than two years, but not —MFAEERFR
exceeding five years 7,778 5,410
— More than five years —RFNAE 3,213 -
169,373 117,720

Less:Carrying amount of bank and other &l : ZIRRE B EE NRE

borrowings that are repayable on KEEXBFERERE

demand or contain a repayment on B eRT REAME

demand clause and shown under HHEEEE

current liabilities (164,373) (117,720)

5,000 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. R 17 & H {5 5K (&)
(continued)
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FH&T
Variable-rate bank loans and fixed-rate % 8 R{TE R M TE B EMER
other borrowings comprise: g
Secured bank loans (note (a)) BHEMBRITE R (K@)
— HK$ bank loans at Hong Kong —RBEBRTAERE (BB
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") RITEZEHFE]) MN2.50%F
plus 2.50% to 2.75% (2022: 2.75% (20224 : HHFRIT
HIBOR plus 2.50% to 2.75%) per B EFEN2.50%F2.75%)
annum WEFEET BB TIRITE
BN 133,514 97,610
Unsecured bank loans (note (b)) 2 3 1R ER 1T B 5K (Y 3% (b))
— HK$ bank loans at HIBOR plus — BB ABRITRZER S M
2.75% (2022: HIBOR plus 2.75%) 2.75% (20224 : BFHRIT
per annum B %78 12.75% ) ) F F|
R EMBTRITERK 10,000 10,000
— HK$ bank loans at bank’s lending — BRI REBE R E
prime rate (“Prime Rate”) less ([REBEENZE])F2.25%F
2.25% to 2.50% (2022: Prime 2.50% (20224 : & EEF|
Rate less 2.25% to 2.50%) per KiFi2.25%%2.50% ) K F 7|
annum R BRBITIRITE R 12,021 10,091
22,021 20,091
Secured bank overdrafts (note (a)) BHRMRITE S (K@)
— HK$ bank overdrafts at Prime Rate ~ —iZ&ZEEF ERE1.25%
less 1.25% (2022: Prime Rate less (20224 : EEMXR
1.25%) per annum 1.25%) BY G F =5 S5
BITIRITEX 4,938 19
Unsecured other borrowings A2 4 4 L Ath 5 3R (BT RE(0))
(note (c)) — 0.229% per month —0.229%H) A #| =&
(2022: Nil) (20224 : #) 8,900 =
169,373 117,720
As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the HIBOR and 1R2023F3A31H Kk202243A31H -
Prime Rate are quoted by the lending banks. BRRITAXFERKESHRAER

RITHRIE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

26. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. BITR E B (&)

(continued)

Notes: B e

(a)

As at 31 March 2023, the secured bank loans of
HK$133,514,000 (2022: HK$97,610,000) and bank
overdrafts of HK$4,938,000 (2022: HK$19,000) are secured
by the pledged bank deposits of HK$36,035,000 (2022:
HK$27,412,000), trade receivables of HK$19,842,000 (2022:
HK$11,958,000), contract assets of HK$21,332,000 (2022:
HK$15,263,000) on a full recourse basis, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$12,321,000 (2022:
HK$9,906,000) and guaranteed by corporate guarantees of the
Company and a PRC subsidiary.

In addition to the pledge of assets and guarantee disclosed
above, included in the secured bank loans are bank loans of
HK 123,823,000 (2022: HK$86,618,000) which are also secured
by properties held by a director of the Company and a company
controlled by a director of the Company and his close family
members (2022: secured by properties held by a director of
the Company and companies controlled by a director of the
Company or his close family members).

The secured bank loans carry effective interest rates ranging
from 5.71% to 5.96% (2022: 2.77% to 3.02%) per annum.

The bank overdrafts carry effective interest rate at 4.63%
(2022: 4.00%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, the unsecured bank loans are guaranteed
by HKMC Insurance Limited under SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme and personal guarantees given by Mr. Yu and Mr.
Chow, directors of the Company. The unsecured bank loans
carry effective interest rate ranging from 3.38% to 5.96%
(2022: 2.75% to 3.02%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, other borrowings of HK$8,900,000
(2022: Nil) were borrowed from a close family member of a
director of the Company.

(a)

M20234%€3A31H AEL AR T
B 7133,514,000/8 7t (20224 :
97,610,000 L) R THE X
4,938,0007% 7T (20224 : 19,000/
J0) LA B & 8 $R 17 1F 736,035,000
7T (20224 : 27,412,000/ 7T) ~ & 5
JiE U FRXIE 19,842,000 7T (20224 ¢
11,958,000/ 7T) * B HEBREER
A #) & E21,332,0005 7T (20224 -
15,263,000/ 7T) ~ A FEFT AEBZE
& REEE12,321,000/8 7T (20224 :
9,906,000/ 7T ) fEE | R IAAR R 8 &
— R EH B A AR EN A BERE
R -

BREXFBEBENEELS R K ER
G BEIFETERBRBERTE
123,823,000 7t (20224 :
86,618,000/ 7T) * JNAKRRR]—FE
ERHAARR—EEERERBEG
B — B R BT R MR IR (20224 ¢
INARR —BEERHARA —RE
R HBEBIEFIN DR ATE Y EER
#) o

EERBTERNEREFNEN T
5.71%%5.96% (2022%F : 2.77% &
3.02%) °

RITEINERFFEAE4.63% (2022
£ :4.00%) °

M20234%3A318  EEARITE R
ABEBRERBRBRABREFR /N
EMERRABER TUARAE
EREERBALEERENEAERE
BR - BERFEITERNERFF X
N F3.38%%5.96% (20224 : 2.75%
%3.02%) °

M2023F38310 - & 1 & X

8,900,000/ 7T (20224 : ) R AR
Al—REEMHBMAED
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

27. HE&E

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments
HEMNH HENHBRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 20235 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET FET FET
Within one year —FR 1,581 1,700 1,472 1,672
In the second to fifth years, E_EERF
inclusive (BHEEEME) 1,581 - 1,539 -
3,162 1,700
Less: Future finance charges B RKREE X (151) (28)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBERE 3,011 1,672 3,011 1,672
Less: Amount due for settlement  J& : 1218 B A E| £
within 12 months (shown under /B & EMFRIA
current liabilities) (RRBEETIR) (1,472) (1,672)
Amount due for settlement after 7121 A & | 810 78
12 months BRI FHIE 1,539 =

At 31 March 2023, the average borrowing rate was 5.19%
(2022: 3.85%). Interest rate are fixed at the contract dates
and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILEE

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. IR
Number of
shares Amount
R BE KX
‘000 HK$'000
T FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ R E{E0.01 LAY & A%
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 MR2021F4818 ~ 202238318 K
and 31 March 2023 2023F3H31H 5,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE :
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 R2021F4 818  2022F3A318 &
and 31 March 2023 202343 H31H 800,000 8,000

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects including all
rights as to dividends, voting and return of capital.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes bank borrowings as disclosed in note 26, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity of the Group, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. Management of the Group
reviews the capital structure regularly taking into account
the cost of capital and the risk associated with the capital.
The Group will balance its overall capital structure through
issue of new shares, raise of new borrowings or repayment of
existing borrowings.

ECRTRORABETE(EREER
BB -BRERNEADBHABEN)
/8 R F AL o

AEBEEHEERN  SHEEBEBRHE
BEaFFH&ETE  BRAKEE
ARERE  TRRRGERADR -
AEBENBRRKE F—FRELBMER

2e
g

=3

AEBENEARBREGR (BHEME
26N BHVIRTTER - EMFRBE KR
TEEY) RAKERE (BREHTKR
KRR AKEEEEEHRME
ARE  EREREANAREERE
RHER  ARBEEBBTHERD &
SFERKNEERBER NFHER
RBERRERE -
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

29. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

29. #1E
(a) ~&EH

AEENRBSBELEZEH IR

2

reEa kAt ERARES

dE L
AR

BRAZ5 -

(b) Company (b) &4 ]
Share Other Capital  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
Bip M Hitfkfe B ZiER -
(note)
(Pt3E)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAT TEL THL TEL
At 1 April 2021 M2021%4A18 37,915 3,000 35,536 (22,249) 54,202
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREERZ AR EH
expense for the year - - - (1,996) (1,996)
At 31 March 2022 and M202263A318 &
1 April 2022 2022%4R18 37,915 3,000 35,536 (24,245) 52,206
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FABERZAFTEE
expense for the year - - - (2,358) (2,358)
At 31 March 2023 12023438318 37,915 3,000 35,536 (26,603) 49,848
Note: B3k -

Capital reserve represented the difference between the
carrying amount of the equity of Polyfair HK prior to a group
reorganisation in 2018 and the issued share capital of Polyfair
HK pursuant to the group reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

31.

As at 31 March 2023, certain assets of the Group were
pledged to secure an aggregate amount of bank loans of
HK$133,514,000 (2022: HK$97,610,000) and bank overdrafts
of HK$4,938,000 (2022: HK$19,000) as disclosed in note 26
and surety bonds of HK$12,088,000 (2022: HK$16,921,000)
as disclosed in note 31. As at 31 March 2022, the pledged
bank deposits of HK$Nil, trade receivables of HK$7,742,000
and contract assets of HK$2,476,000 were also pledged to
secure the performance guarantees granted under letters
of guarantees of the Group of an aggregate balance of
HK$4,833,000 given by banks as disclosed in note 31. The
pledged cash deposit of HK$4,400,000 (2022: HK$4,400,000)
was pledged to a third party to secure the performance
guarantee granted by the third party of HK$12,088,000
(2022: HK$12,088,000) as disclosed in note 31.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE

The performance guarantees given by banks were granted
under letters of guarantees of the Group and were secured
by the Group’s pledged bank deposits, trade receivables and
contract assets as disclosed in note 30, which will be released
upon completion of the contract works.

As at 31 March 2023, no performance guarantee given by
banks.

As at 31 March 2022, these surety bonds given by banks
of HK$4,833,000 were also secured by pledges of certain
properties held by companies controlled by a director of the
Company or his close family members as disclosed in note 32
and guaranteed by corporate guarantees of the Company and
a PRC subsidiary.

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

30 EEE#

31.

M2023F3A318 AEBETEE
EEH - e A £ %133,514,000 7T
(20224 : 97,610,000/ 7T) 81T & X
4,938,000/ Jr (20224 : 19,0007%
JC) SR1TE X (WP sE26FT I ) A &
12,088,000 7T (20224 : 16,921,000
BT) ZEEER (WM E3TATIRE) iR
R o A2022F3831H EEF LWEH
HERITIER 7,742,000 TR B 5 JE
U 3k 78 K2,476,0005% TTH & 48 E IR
BEEH - (EARITIREMNRIEAEEE
R 8 48 4 8 54,833,00008 T HY
BAEROER (W31 FRE) - ©
G IHIR & 17 74,400,000 7T (20224
4,400,000 ) EEHR T —RE=7 -
ERB= AR LHELER12,088,000
7T (20224 : 12,088,00078 7T ) HYIE(R
(P EE31FTHEER) ©

BHAER

RITRREHBORRIDREASEBER
RN YUAARRECERRITER
BHRYRIAR A K EEFEER (A
30FTIER) ARERKSRAEHNTIE
5 TS ARBR o

202343 A318 » WERTIRMENE
HHEIR -

MR20229F3A31H » ZSHTIREME
4,833,000 T EEERINALR R A
—REEREREENNARAMEET
R E FREE R (QOBEE32AT IR ) &
RAQR K —ER BN E R EE
RIEIRFE o

Annual Report 2023 — &~ =443 159




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

31.

32.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE (continued)

The performance guarantees given by a third party of
HK$12,088,000 (2022: HK$12,088,000) were secured by the
Group’s pledged cash deposits as disclosed in note 30 and
guaranteed by personal guarantees by two directors of the
Company and corporate guarantees by the Company and a
Hong Kong subsidiary of the Group, which will be released
upon completion of the contract works.

At the end of both reporting periods, the directors of the
Company do not consider it is probable that a claim will be
made against the Group in respect of the above performance
guarantees.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2023, properties held by a director of the
Company and a company controlled by a director of the
Company and his close family members (2022: properties
held by a director of the Company and companies controlled
by a director of the Company or his close family members)
were pledged to secure bank loans of HK$123,823,000
(2022: HK$86,618,000) out of total secured bank loans of
HK$133,514,000 (2022: HK$97,610,000) as set out in note
26.

As at 31 March 2022, properties held by companies controlled
by a director of the Company or his close family members
were pledged to secure surety bonds of HK$4,833,000 given
by banks as disclosed in note 31.

As at 31 March 2023, other borrowings of HK$8,900,000
(2022: Nil) as disclosed in note 26 were borrowed from a
close family member of a director of the Company.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company, who represent
the key management personnel during the year, are set out in
note 13.
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31.

32.

BAER (&)

% =7 121£12,088,000/ 7T (20224 :
12,088,000/ 7T) MIE XV IER DA &
BB E IR T RIEER (M EE306T
BE)MBARAMEEROEAER
ARARARRAEE—EEENB ARG
R EERIERE  BEERBRELD
T 5T TRRR -

RMEHRERER  XAREERR
AEBAAA R Ll BOERE S

RE-

E

BR2023F3831H A RE—%E
ELHARA —RESRERBE
HlH— M RA TR (20224 -
KRRl —ZEZERBEARA —KE
ERERBETNNARMFEYE)E
EH - £ //133,514,0005% 7T (2022
% :97,610,0008 L) BERIRTE
X 4EEEH123,823,0007 7T (20224 ¢
86,618,000/ 7T ) IRITE KM ER (FR
Bf7526) °

72022F3A31H  AARA—ZES
EBBRFN AR ED LD
EBHIRTTIR /94,833,000 £ E
EROER (MM E31FEE) °

MN2023F3A31H » H M £ X%
8,900,000 7T (20224 : ) RHA R
Al—RESMEBEE D (WM 260

%) -
FEEEBASHMH

ARREZ(AIXTBEEEAR) FAM
SEHNHMIEE3



33.

34.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of independent trustees. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution
is matched by employees but subject to a maximum amount
of HK$1,500 per month for each employee to the MPF
Scheme.

The employees employed by the PRC subsidiary are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is
required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligations of the PRC subsidiary with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$3,087,000
(2022: HK$2,883,000) represents contributions paid or
payable to the above schemes by the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to provide incentives or rewards to participants of the
share option scheme including the directors of the Company
and eligible employees of the Group, the shareholders of the
Company passed an ordinary resolution at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 25 January 2018 to approve
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). No share options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption on 25 January 2018.

33.

34.

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

3R 1K 48 R & 2

AEBAEMBAERNBERESER
Beitdl - aBESFEmEERAEH
MEEDHIEE  THBIITANE
CHE  ASEAEEASAEAEBRT
&K 5% M) 58 18 © AT 81 /E 5K
SRR EREERAEESTEEL
TE K AE1,5008 7T °

TR B A RIS ER R B BT BRA
REMNBRERRKNBNEOKE -
TEMBARAREIENE —BAOL
AR R AE Mt BIE 50 - R RS
B - PEKE QR A BRAKEN S
M —BESRBEEHEFEHFLREDN

B 18z ¥ Bk A 42 5 7453,087,0007% JT
(20224 : 2,883,000/ 7T) AR EEE
F£2023F3A31BLFE A LAFTEIE
e FE T R 3R o

fE IR T

BREBRETINREE (BIEAA R
NESRAEENSERER) L TH
Bk 42E) - N A RIREEARRFR2018
F1ASHEBTHRRAFTFAE LBEA
—IEHEEREE  HEFEM—EERE
sTEl (BT S11) - BR2018F 1A
25 B RN BB AR M ST B DA ZR - BEE IR IR ER
P& A 51 &) 5% S F 1o B P 4 o
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive or a reward to participants for their
contribution to the Group.

(b) Eligibility

Eligible participants include employees (whether full
time or part time employees, including non-executive
directors) and such other eligible participants.

(c) Maximum number of shares

Maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

Total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not exceed 80,000,000 shares, being 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the listing date, 23
February 2018, unless the Group obtains the approval
of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting
for renewing the scheme mandate limit under the Share
Option Scheme.

(d) Period of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to any prior termination by the Company in a
general meeting or by the board of directors, the Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.
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(a)

(b)
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BRESTENE W
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RIBBRAE S A KB A EAM
it B AT B MO B IR A
FROBHHEEEEARXTE
BB NEE BTN AAZA30% °

BN E AR R R 8 AR
HEMB@BRETES TR D MNE
PRERTH RBRMDBETE B
#80,000,000% (BN 7 £ B Hi
(20182 A23H) BTl D42
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(e) Maximum entitlement of each
participant

No share option shall be granted to any participant if
any further grant of options would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted and to be granted to such person
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period up to and including such further
grant exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in
issue, unless:

(1)

such further grant has been duly approved, in the
manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of
Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules, by resolution of
the shareholders in general meeting at which the
participant and his associates shall abstain from
voting;

a circular regarding the further grant has been
despatched to the shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the information
specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 23
of the Listing Rules (including the identity of the
participant, the number and terms of the share
options to be granted and options previously
granted to such participant); and

the number and terms (including the subscription
price) of such share option are fixed before the
general meeting of the Company at which the
same are approved.

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

34. BIRAER S (&)
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A EM2EEE - FEHBER
REEBHNEERHAH (BHEZ
B) EER2EAREEERT &
BETZ2EENERE (BFEE
T R i R 77150 1O 8 B ) JE AT fiE
MmETRETFEITHRNDERD
BTN A1 % - BT &M%
SEER D ERE - BRIE -

(1) ARE-—ZFREHERGEML
MRANE -+ =FARIKX
FITARTE Y 77 SRR IR AR R
REEUORBEIEAME -
M2 EEREBEARAR
CLEMERRE

2) KEZRGEM LT B E
Tt =EBHAGEXREDN
FARBRRTE—HEBE
—SEENBE  2FREHE
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2EENHH - BRTFZZD
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(3) %ZEBREMBEB RER
(BHEREE) R EZAR
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Payment on acceptance of the share
option

HK$1 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the share option offer. The share option
offer will be offered for acceptance for a period of 21
days from the date on which the offer is granted.

Subscription price for shares

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of
directors at least the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares;

(2) the average closing price of the shares for the five
consecutive business days immediately preceding
the offer date; and

(3) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.

The remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

Approximately 4 years and 10 months (expiring on 24
January 2028).
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

35. mEBRERERMHE

Change in liabilities arising from financing

activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities during the year.

METDRELEEENET

TERESFAAEEREEIDHELR
EHED -

Interest Bank Lease
payable borrowings liabilities Total
BRI RITER HEEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2021 MR2021F4A81H - 98,039 3,321 101,360
Changes in cash flows REmER (3,977) 19,681 (1,649) 14,055
Non-cash changes: M EF) :
— interest charged —F B 3,977 = = 3,977
At 31 March 2022 and M2022%3H318 K
1 April 2022 2022F481H — 117,720 1,672 119,392
Changes in cash flows Henes (6,972) 51,653 (1,672) 43,009
Non-cash changes: FHREEE :
— interest charged —FERX 6,972 = = 6,972
— Addition — 3240 - - 3,011 3,011
At 31 March 2023 202343 H31H - 169,373 3,011 172,384
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REMBE®RME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HLFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. 2 3 B9 B B AR R 3R
THE COMPANY
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$000 HK$'000
THxT T
Non-current assets EMBNEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB R RMIRE 68,058 68,058
Current assets mBNEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TENRIE - Be REMER
receivables K8 169 191
Amount due from a subsidiary JE W — 3 B /B8 1 1K I8 48 38
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 157 157
374 386
Current liabilities mBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary JEAST— I B A B 8 10,260 7,959
Other payables Eoth fE T 5RIE 324 279
10,584 8,238
Net current liabilities mEBEFRE (10,210) (7,852)
Net assets BEFE 57,848 60,206
Capital and reserves B R
Share capital [N 8,000 8,000
Reserves G 49,848 52,206
Total equity RS iREE 57,848 60,206
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GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HBZE2023F3A31HILLFE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. A AR B A RIFE
COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RQ A R2023F3A31H k202243 A
Company as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 are as BSTHEERMAERENMER NGRS
follows: mE

Proportion of

Place of incorporation nominal value of
and principal place of Issued and fully issued share capital
Name of subsidiary business paid share capital ~ held by the Company  Principal activities
aME LR ERDR IR
WEARER TEEERE BRTRBERE EBRORTEEMNLS FEXH
2023 2022
2023% 2022
% %
Direct subsidiaries
EENERA
Polyfair Group Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Investment holding
ERREERAH ABRABR/BE  1ER 100 100 RELR
Indirect subsidiaries
BENEAR
Polyfair HK Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100 100 Project management services for facade
and installation of curtain wall systems
and investment holding
EREA A 3,000,000 ¢ 100 100 SMEEREERELERZAZEAR
RERKR
Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall PRC HK$1,000,000 100 100 Design of facade systems
Technology Company Limited
(note)
ABEEBRRRARRA Gk 1,000,000/ 7 100 100 SMERRRE
(FitaE)

Note: Shenzhen Polyfair Curtainwall Technology Company Limited Mt : RV BBEBREEHEAR AR TRES
is registered under the law of the PRC as foreign investment BEEAMAIINEIRERSE - ZEE
enterprise. The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The MEHGBRT XL  BEXEEE
English name is for identification purpose only. BRI o

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the PABRE MRS ER - B A RS EBITE

end of the respective reporting periods. AEEE 5 °

38. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. AEMBEHRR

These consolidated financial statements were approved and ZEGRE M BIREZER2023F6H218

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June BEEGHERRERNZE -

2023.
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MBHE

RESULTS E
For the five years ended 31 March 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and B E20194 + 20204 ~ 20214 ~ 2022F &
2023 2023F3A31B I AAEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224F 20214 20204F 20194
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FAHT FHET FHT
Revenue Wz 330,715 362,094 299,995 229,809 215,778
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREL AT A, (E518) 3,488 3,352 2,941 592 (6,883)
Taxation(charge)/credit BE(HEZ) R (470) (695) (1,002) 2,477 302
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,/(EE) 3,018 2,657 1,939 3,069 (6,581)
Other comprehensive (expense)/  FREAM2E (F%),/
income for the year KA 9) 28 ) (30) (58)
Total comprehensive income/ FRZEKA
(expense) for the year (AX%) B 3,009 2,685 1,937 3,039 (6,639)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204F 20194
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FER FHT FHIT FHIT FHT
Total assets BEMBE 323,044 253,766 209,886 190,444 191,241
Total liabilities BELE (251,010)  (184,741)  (143,546)  (126,041)  (129,788)
Net assets BEFE 72,034 69,025 66,340 64,403 61,453
Note: =t -

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.
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